

An index and study by The Economist Intelligence Unit

Intelligence

Unit

The Economist



Commissioned by







About this report

This document is the first edition of an informational tool and benchmarking index that assesses the capacity of countries in Africa to carry out sustainable public-private partnerships (PPPs) in infrastructure. The study is based on a methodology developed in 2009 and revised in 2010 for Latin American countries, and replicated in this edition for African countries. The analysis and content of this index covers the period between November 2014 and January 2015. The index was built by The Economist Intelligence Unit (EIU) and is supported financially by the World Bank Group. The views and opinions expressed in this publication are those of the EIU and do not necessarily reflect the official position of the World Bank Group.

The complete index can be viewed on this website:

http://www.eiu.com/AfricaInfrascope2015

Please use the following when citing this report:

EIU (The Economist Intelligence Unit). 2015. *Evaluating the environment for public-private partnerships in Africa: The 2015 Infrascope*. EIU, London.

For further information, please contact:

Economist Intelligence Unit

Leo Abruzzese, Project Director: leoabruzzese@eiu.com Stefano Scuratti, Project Manager: stefanoscuratti@economist.com Romina Bandura, Senior Analyst: rominabandura@eiu.com Rachael Glynne, Marketing Executive: rachaelglynne@eiu.com

The World Bank Group

Clive Harris, Practice Manager: charris@worldbank.org Fernanda Ruiz-Nuñez, Senior Economist: fruiznunez@worldbank.org Lauren Nicole Wilson, Operations Analyst, lwilson1@worldbank.org Nadine Ghannam, Communications Lead, nsghannam@worldbankgoup.org



About The Economist Intelligence Unit

The Economist Intelligence Unit (EIU) is the research arm of The Economist Group, publisher of The Economist. As the world's leading provider of country intelligence, it helps governments, institutions and businesses by providing timely, reliable and impartial analysis of economic and development strategies. Through its public policy practice, the EIU provides evidence-based research for policymakers and stakeholders seeking measureable outcomes in fields ranging from gender and finance to energy and technology. It conducts research through interviews, regulatory analysis, quantitative modelling and forecasting, and displays the results via interactive data visualisation tools. Through a global network of more than 350 analysts and contributors, the EIU continuously assesses and forecasts political, economic and business conditions in over 200 countries. For more information, visit www.eiu.com.

About the World Bank Group

The World Bank Group plays a key role in the global effort to end extreme poverty and boost shared prosperity. It consists of five institutions: the World Bank, including the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD) and the International Development Association (IDA); the International Finance Corporation (IFC); the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA); and the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID). Working together in more than 100 countries, these institutions provide financing, advice, and other solutions that enable countries to address the most urgent challenges of development. For more information, visit www.worldbank. org, www.miga.org, and ifc.org.

About the Public Private Infrastructure Advisory Facility (PPIAF)

PPIAF is a multi-donor trust fund that provides technical assistance to governments in developing countries to develop enabling environments and to facilitate private investment in infrastructure. Its aim is to build transformational partnerships to enable it to create a greater impact in achieving its goal. For more information, visit www.ppiaf.org.



Acknowledgements

We are grateful to PPIAF for funding this work. As part of the research process for this project, more than 60 in-depth interviews were conducted with policymakers and country infrastructure experts from multilateral and consulting institutions, government, and the private sector. We would like to express our thanks to all of the infrastructure and country experts for their advice and inputs.

The following researchers, country analysts and specialists also contributed to this report. We thank them for their contribution.

Country analysis:

Crispin Bokea, Anis Chouchane, Neil Dougal, Colen Garrow, Camilo Guerrero, Obi Iheme, Laura James, Sebastien Marlier, Siddhartha Mitter, Lorraine Talon, Victoria Tuomisto

Report development: Adam Robert Green

Model development:

Will Shallcross



Contents

Foreword	5
Infrascope categories and indicators	7
Overall scores and key findings	9
Category scores	12
Infrascope country summaries	23
Angola	23
Cameroon	25
Côte d'Ivoire	26
Democratic Republic of the Congo	27
Egypt	29
Ghana	31
Kenya	32
Morocco	33
Nigeria	35
Rwanda	37
South Africa	38
Tanzania	39
Tunisia	40
Uganda	42
Zambia	44
Appendix I	45
Infrascope background	
Appendix II	48
Methodology, sources and detailed indicator definitions	
Appendix III	59
Glossary	
Bibliography	61
General bibliography	61
Country-specific bibliography	61



Foreword

A frica has enjoyed more than a decade of rapid economic growth, especially Sub-Saharan Africa, with the continent producing nearly half or the twenty fastest-growing economies between 2011 and 2015¹. Building on this momentum will, however, require rapid infrastructure development. As much as US\$93bn will be required annually to meet Africa's infrastructure needs through to 2020, with only half of that amount currently being met, according to the African Development Bank².

This infrastructure bottleneck threatens to slow the continent's progress, and effective models of infrastructure development are now essential to achieve sustainable growth. Public–private partnerships (PPPs) are emerging as a powerful tool to support this process. A growing body of international evidence points to the importance of a favourable regulatory environment and robust institutional framework in developing sustainable and efficient PPP infrastructure projects. By leveraging the strengths of both public and private actors, PPPs benefit from both the management and technical know-how of the private sector to deliver public services, and the public sector's abilities to guarantee the security of private investments and provide the legal and regulatory certainties that private investors need. Moreover, cash-strapped governments can take advantage of financing arrangements that the private sector can provide. When well designed, with proper cost recovery, appropriate risk allocation and investor protection, PPPs can drive essential infrastructure in a context of limited government budgets.

PPPs are on the agenda of African policymakers, with many countries passing new laws, policies and regulations to facilitate PPPs, particularly during the last six years. Although a unified PPP legal framework is lacking in some places, most African countries have adopted a national policy or guidelines, or have a PPP law in the pipeline. The challenge is ensuring both strong rules and regulations, as well as effective implementation.

PPP projects are difficult to execute, requiring robust regulatory and institutional architectures, high levels of technical capacity, political will and social consensus. The PPP project cycle is a complex one, requiring skills in financial analysis and modelling, structuring of transactions, expertise in commercial law, and sector knowledge, to name but a few. The burden of building the PPP environment falls heavily on government. It must identify and select appropriate projects, issue transparent ¹ www.eiu.com

² http://www.afdb.org/en/ topics-and-sectors/sectors/ private-sector/areasof-focus/infrastructurefinance/



tenders, structure robust contracts, and have checks and balances in place to ensure the proper execution of these projects.

The Infrascope analytical framework was developed for an assessment of Latin American countries in 2009 by the EIU and the Inter-American Development Bank and has since been applied to other regions of the world, such as Asia and Eastern Europe. This report marks the first edition for Africa and covers 15 countries: Angola, Cameroon, Côte d'Ivoire, the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), Egypt, Ghana, Kenya, Morocco, Nigeria, Rwanda, South Africa, Tanzania, Tunisia, Uganda and Zambia. The framework evaluates countries' readiness and capacity to implement sustainable and efficient concession projects in key infrastructure sectors, principally transport, water, and energy. The index that derives from this framework is intended to serve as a learning tool for the development of PPPs, and focuses on projects that involve long-term contracts between public-sector bodies and privatesector entities for the design, construction (or upgrading), and operation and maintenance of public infrastructure³.

³ For a full explanation of the methodology see Appendix I



Infrascope categories and indicators

The Infrascope index comprises 19 indicators, both qualitative and quantitative in nature. Data for the quantitative indicators are drawn from the Risk Briefing service of The Economist Intelligence Unit (EIU) and from the World Bank. Gaps in the quantitative data have been filled by estimates that have been developed by the EIU project team.

The qualitative data come from a range of primary sources (legal texts, government websites, press reports and interviews), secondary reports and data sources, adjusted by the EIU. The main sources used in the index are the EIU, the World Bank, Transparency International and the World Economic Forum.

The categories and their associated indicators are as follows (Appendix II provides detailed definitions):

1. Legal and regulatory framework (weighted 25%)

- 1.1 Consistency and quality of PPP regulations
- 1.2 Effective PPP selection and decision-making
- 1.3 Fairness/openness of bids, contract changes
- 1.4 Dispute-resolution mechanisms

2. Institutional framework (weighted 20%)

2.1 Quality of institutional design

2.2 PPP contract, hold-up and expropriation risk

3. Operational maturity (weighted 15%)

- 3.1 Public capacity to plan and oversee PPPs
- 3.2 Methods and criteria for awarding projects
- 3.3 Regulators' risk-allocation record
- 3.4 Experience in transport, water and electricity concessions
- 3.5 Quality of transport, water and electricity concessions



4. Investment climate (weighted 15%)

- 4.1 Political distortion
- 4.2 Business environment
- 4.3 Political will

5. Financial facilities (weighted 15%)

- 5.1 Government payment risk
- 5.2 Capital market: private infrastructure finance
- 5.3 Marketable debt
- 5.4 Government support and affordability for low-income users

6. Subnational adjustment factor (weighted 10%)

6.1 Subnational adjustment



Overall scores and key findings

Table 1: Overall scores EMERGING (30-59.9) MATURE (80-100) **DEVELOPED (60-79.9)** NASCENT (0-29.9) OVERALL SCORE Rank Score 1 South Africa 70.7 2 Morocco 51.8 3 Kenya 51.4 4 Egypt 51.0 5 Tanzania 48.6 Côte d'Ivoire 6 45.5 7 Tunisia 45.4 8 Uqanda 45.1 9 Rwanda 43.5 10 Ghana 43.0 11 Cameroon 38.2 12 Nigeria 36.8 13 Zambia 34.2 14 Angola 31.4 15 Democratic Republic of the Congo 20.6

Most African governments are actively building PPP frameworks, with an uptick in new laws since 2009, but implementation lags

Ten out of 15 countries in this Infrascope now have PPP-specific legal frameworks in place: South Africa, Kenya, Morocco, Egypt, Côte d'Ivoire, Tanzania, Tunisia, Cameroon, Nigeria and Zambia. There has been a particular uptick in new PPP-specific laws and policies over the last six years: Zambia (2009), Egypt and Tanzania (2010), Côte d'Ivoire (2012), Kenya (2013) and Morocco (2015). Of the remainder, three countries have PPP laws under policy development or moving through the parliamentary or presidential approval process (Rwanda since 2009, Ghana since 2013, Uganda since 2012). In only two countries, DRC and Angola, is there no clear roadmap towards a PPP framework.



Despite the good progress, PPP laws often are stronger on paper than in practice. Nigeria and Zambia, for instance, have strong legislation pertaining to issues like bidding transparency and dispute resolution, but these are not always effective in practice. Countries may also lack the capacity to follow through on their regulatory provisions. Ghana, for example, has strong rules concerning project preparation, but there is a shortage of skills for managing such processes, while Uganda's PPP unit is not yet able to execute the full range of tasks required of it in the draft law. Moreover, PPP institutions are not always fulfilling their potential. Egypt and Cameroon have dedicated PPP units, but they are not as fully engaged as was intended.

Greater need for harmonisation

As African governments pass new PPP laws, challenges are emerging in terms of harmonising practices horizontally (between line ministries) and vertically (national/federal versus subnational levels). For instance, some countries, including Zambia, Egypt and Kenya, have line ministries that are more experienced in PPPs and may advance project bids without taking into consideration the overarching PPP framework. At the vertical level, differences can emerge between central and local governments. South Africa has differing protocols between national and municipal governments, with legislation at the municipal level more complex than at the national level. Kenya is devolving decision-making to sub-regions, potentially creating a new layer of complexity for PPPs.

Heavy reliance on external financing

The only country with sufficient financial market depth to fully enable PPP financing is South Africa. Its banks are well regulated and well capitalised, there is a large and reliable local market for hedging instruments, and its ability to structure finance is strong. Morocco's banking sector has reasonable financing capacity to fund PPPs but limited experience, and Kenya has some finance and risk instruments. In the remaining countries, local markets for private infrastructure finance are slowly developing, but hedging instruments are less robust and there is a heavy reliance on external funding.

Broader stakeholder engagement needed

PPPs have political backing in most countries, but there is unease among some public stakeholders. There are worries in Tanzania and Tunisia, for example, based on memories of failed past privatisations that are associated with PPPs, even though new models may be different. Open dialogue and educational campaigns are needed to ensure that the public is well informed about the PPP model. More public engagement is also necessary because PPPs can entail difficult decisions over tariffs, tolls and fees. Recent protests against price hikes in Uganda (electricity) and Nigeria (fuel), and criticisms of earlier concession or privatisation attempts such as an airport in Tunisia and a rail project in Cameroon, pose a challenge for governments.

Central PPP units are proving popular, bringing benefits and risks

Of the 15 countries, 12 have developed central PPP units. Their functionality varies from established bodies (South Africa) through to newer start-ups (Uganda, Tanzania). These units are intended to carry out a range of crucial functions and coordinate PPPs across government. Their administrative locations vary, including: Ministries of Finance/Treasury (South Africa, Kenya, Ghana, Uganda,



Tanzania and Zambia), the Presidency (Côte d'Ivoire), or a dedicated Development Board (Rwanda). In Nigeria, in contrast, PPP processes are led by government agencies. Angola and DRC have nascent PPP units with little decision-making or management power.

Central PPP units bring advantages such as better coordination, increased efficiency and a clustering of relevant skills in a single place. When they are located at the higher levels of government, for instance in the Presidency or Ministry of Finance, they can ensure buy-in from key decision-makers. But this centralised approach also has risks—it can tie PPPs to individual leaders rather than embedding them in the broader institutional system, and can lead to a lack of involvement—necessary in the later stages of PPP cycles—across government departments.

Slow PPP processes are a common challenge

Some countries are facing challenges with the pace of passing PPP legislation, and the speed of advancing projects. Ghana's PPP bill has been under discussion since 2013 and may not pass until late 2015. In Uganda, a PPP bill passed by parliament in 2012 has not yet been signed into law. Investors, understandably, may be reluctant to engage in countries where comprehensive laws are not yet operational.

At the project level, delays relate to procedural issues like dispute resolution and judicial processes, which are slow or complex in Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana, Cameroon, Tanzania, Rwanda and Zambia, and weaker still in Nigeria, DRC, Uganda and Angola. Another issue concerns operational processes such as payments. Ghana and Nigeria, for example, have experienced delayed government payments for contractors, which can both deter future investors and make banks reluctant to provide loans to contractors.

Most countries integrate PPP risk into fiscal frameworks, but others have yet to do so

Large-scale PPPs can impact public finances, especially when they encounter problems. In South Africa, all projects require approval from the National Treasury because of potential risk to the public purse. Tanzania, Morocco, Kenya and Ghana have institutions and provisions for monitoring the fiscal risk of PPP projects. Angola's PPP law also requires that PPPs conform to the government's fiscal programme, while Uganda's draft law includes provisions intended to align project decisions with national budgeting. There are gaps in the remaining countries, however. Nigeria has a number of debt management bodies to evaluate and manage fiscal risks, but their functionality is unclear. In Cameroon, signed PPP contracts are not integrated into the medium-term planning framework, which means that future costs are treated "off budget". This carries risks for fiscal and public debt sustainability if contingent liabilities associated with PPPs are not factored into fiscal frameworks. Egypt also currently has no specific regulation to allow the Budget Office to approve, from a fiscal perspective, PPP projects.



Category scores

1) **Regulatory framework**

1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

Rank		Score
1	South Africa	75.0
2	Kenya	65.6
3	Egypt	59.4
4	Morocco	56.3
5	Côte d'Ivoire	53.1
=6	Ghana	50.0
=6	Tanzania	50.0
=6	Tunisia	50.0
=6	Zambia	50.0
10	Rwanda	46.9
11	Cameroon	43.8
12	Uganda	37.5
13	Nigeria	31.3
14	Angola	28.1
15	Democratic Republic of the Congo	21.9

Most governments are supportive of PPPs, with PPP-specific laws or frameworks in ten out of 15 countries, and emerging frameworks in all but two of the rest

Ten out of 15 countries have PPP-specific legal and regulatory frameworks in place: South Africa, Kenya, Morocco, Egypt, Côte d'Ivoire, Tanzania, Tunisia, Cameroon, Nigeria and Zambia. All but two of the rest have PPP laws currently undergoing policy discussion or in parliamentary process (Rwanda since 2009, Ghana since 2013, Uganda since 2012). In the DRC and Angola, there is no clear roadmap towards a functional PPP framework.

The most established country, from a regulatory standpoint, is South Africa, whose PPP framework dates back to the early 2000s. Many other countries have passed laws over the last six years: Zambia



(2009), Egypt and Tanzania (2010), Côte d'Ivoire (2012), Kenya (2013) and Morocco (2015). For those with recently passed laws, such as Kenya, these are often based on international best practice principles but have yet to be fully tested across the project cycle.

A number of countries carry out PPP projects based on other relevant laws—Ghana, Cameroon and Rwanda are three examples. Morocco also implemented PPPs in recent years prior to its comprehensive law, and Kenya's energy sector had experience of PPP projects prior to the 2013 Act. In other cases, laws can exist but may not cover every sector. In Egypt, for instance, projects in different sectors proceed under different laws. Thus, PPPs can take place without an overarching PPP-specific law, although the passing of such laws can harmonise practices and establish consistent frameworks across ministries.

Several countries have improved rules governing bidding and awarding—but others would benefit from stronger provisions

Many countries are strengthening the rules governing early-stage PPPs. South Africa has the strongest rules on issues such as project identification, bidding and awarding. Egypt and Ghana also score comparatively well in terms of bid fairness and transparency. In other cases, there is room for improvement in areas such as establishing the economic merits of PPPs compared with alternatives (Cameroon, Tunisia), and transparency over awarding processes (Nigeria, Zambia, Côte d'Ivoire).

This focus on strong rules for early-stage processes is vital to minimise the risk of projects falling into distress or cancellation. Zambia experienced several project cancellations in 2012 in telecommunications, railways and national border infrastructure due to early-stage difficulties such as risk-planning and disputes over whether due process was followed. Robust rules to ensure comprehensive risk-planning at the outset are also key to ensuring successful project cycles. Nigeria saw a transport concession taken back into state-financing due to exchange rate fluctuations and protests against road tolls, which potentially could have been mitigated through greater risk-planning in the early stages. Setting out detailed risk-allocation frameworks at the early stages is especially critical for larger-scale projects like the Rift Valley Railways joint concession between Uganda and Kenya, which faced a variety of operational challenges.

External actors can provide support for risk evaluation. For instance, donors and external agents (the Emerging Africa Infrastructure Fund and the Netherlands Development Finance Company) supported the design of the risk framework in Rwanda's KivuWatt project. Finally, project distress is not always related to gaps in the legal frameworks governing the 'front end' of the project cycle; in Ghana, for instance, risk of distress relates largely to the country's fiscal position and debt service-to-GDP ratio.



2) Institutional framework

2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK

Rank		Score
1	South Africa	75.0
=2	Côte d'Ivoire	50.0
=2	Egypt	50.0
=2	Кепуа	50.0
=2	Могоссо	50.0
=2	Tanzania	50.0
=2	Tunisia	50.0
=2	Uganda	50.0
9	Ghana	41.7
10	Rwanda	33.3
=11	Cameroon	25.0
=11	Nigeria	25.0
=11	Zambia	25.0
=14	Angola	16.7
=14	Democratic Republic of the Congo	16.7

Centralising PPP capacity is popular in several countries, bringing benefits and risks

Of the 15 countries, 12 now have central PPP units that can bring coordination and efficiency gains. Their location varies, from the Ministries of Finance/Treasury (South Africa, Uganda, Ghana, Tanzania which is yet to be staffed—and Zambia) and the Presidency (Côte d'Ivoire), through to Development Boards (Rwanda). In Nigeria, PPP processes are led more by government agencies. Angola and DRC have prototype PPP units, but their decision-making or management powers remain unclear.

Central PPP units can improve coordination and efficiency and bring a clustering of relevant skills to a single place. When located at high levels of government, for instance in the Presidency or Ministry of Finance, they can ensure buy-in from key decision-makers. But this centralised approach has risks—it can tie PPPs to individual leaders rather than embed them in the bureaucratic system, and can lead to a lack of involvement across government departments in later stages of PPP cycles. Where units rely heavily on presidential decrees, they may not be embedded if future leaders are less committed to PPPs. Finally, some ministries are resistant to PPP units, or do not interact with them in a structured way.

External donors have supported countries in the formation and strengthening of PPP units. Examples include the World Bank's technical assistance to Ghana's Public Investment Division, including consulting, policy work, training and equipment (as well as a US\$30m loan); the Bank's US\$40m loan to Kenya in 2012 to boost the PPP enabling environment and support bankable projects; and the UK Department for International Development's support for Tanzania's current start-up PPP unit, as well as its involvement in Kenya. The Public Private Infrastructure Advisory Facility (PPIAF), a multi-donor



technical assistance facility, also provides external capacity-building for countries developing their institutional architecture.

Greater harmonisation needed across ministries and levels of government

A common challenge among countries is the harmonisation of laws, procedures and practices across government institutions (line ministries) and levels of government (federal/national and subnational). Do the agencies leading PPPs, such as ministries of transport, water or energy, all use the same system? Are the institutions at the national level managed according to the same protocols and rules that apply at the county or municipal level?

South Africa has differing protocols between national and municipal governments, with legislation at the municipal level more complex than at the national level. Kenya is moving towards devolution of decision-making power to its sub-regions, which creates a new layer of complexity in terms of differing approaches to PPPs.

At the horizontal level, some ministries follow different processes, often due to their past experiences. In Egypt and Zambia, for instance, energy projects proceed according to laws and processes that differ from those in other sectors. Strengthening PPP units can help improve coordination across departments.

Protracted PPP processes are a common challenge across countries

Most countries face challenges in terms of expediting PPPs: this concerns both the passing of laws and the execution of PPPs themselves. Regarding the first, Ghana and Uganda have both had PPP bills in draft form for several years, which can deter investors. Other delays relate to the PPP project cycle—for example, procedural issues like dispute resolution and judicial processes. This report found dispute resolution and judicial processes to be slow or complex in Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana, Cameroon, Tanzania, Rwanda and Zambia, and weaker still in Nigeria, DRC, Uganda and Angola. Another concern pertains to operational processes such as payments. Ghana and Nigeria have experienced problems related to delayed government payments for contractors, which can make banks reluctant to provide loans.

Dispute resolution mechanisms exist in nearly all countries, but speed and effectiveness vary; international arbitration remains a viable option for foreign investors in most countries

Morocco, Kenya, Egypt, South Africa and Tunisia have reasonably comprehensive dispute resolution mechanisms. The remaining countries either have inefficient dispute resolution processes or lack them altogether. These shortcomings can be overcome, however, through the use of international arbitration mechanisms. Apart from South Africa and Angola, all countries in this study are either Signatory States to the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID) Convention—which enables international arbitration under the auspices of the World Bank—or Contracting States to ICSID.



3) Operational maturity

3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY

5) 01 11		
Rank		Score
1	South Africa	75.0
2	Morocco	56.3
3	Egypt	53.1
4	Uganda	46.9
5	Tanzania	43.8
=6	Kenya	40.6
=6	Nigeria	40.6
8	Angola	37.5
=9	Côte d'Ivoire	34.4
=9	Ghana	34.4
=11	Cameroon	31.3
=11	Rwanda	31.3
=11	Tunisia	31.3
14	Zambia	25.0
15	Democratic Republic of the Congo	6.3

Ministries have differing levels of experience in carrying out PPPs

In a number of countries, some sectors have more experience with PPPs than others. In Nigeria, for instance, the road sector has more developed laws and practices than rail. Côte d'Ivoire has more experience in water and power than in other areas of the economy. Kenya has greater experience in energy compared with transport or water, while in Zambia and Egypt the PPP process for energy tends to rely on ad hoc provisions. Within Zambia's Department of Energy, the Office for Promoting Private Power Investments is more streamlined than the national PPP unit on matters concerning feasibility studies, is more focused on competitive bidding, and engages with the private sector on independent power projects (IPPs). In Egypt, electricity projects proceed under a separate 2009 law and are thus not covered by the PPP law of 2010, and oil and gas projects proceed under project-specific laws.

While sectors with a strong track record of PPPs can be quite effective—and could be role models for other sectors—they also may be used to working under different laws and procedures that are at odds with new rules. This creates a coordination challenge as governments try to harmonise practices, and can lead to PPP units being consulted on an erratic and inconsistent basis. This means that any assessment of a country's PPP environment must take into account its particular sector dynamics.

Capacity challenges vary depending on development level; the public sector in more advanced economies struggles to attract top skills compared with the private sector, while smaller economies face a generalised shortage of staff

PPPs require knowledge spanning a wide range of areas, from contract design to financing and legal expertise. All African countries in this study face human capital challenges, but they vary according to



the country's broader development level. South Africa has a strong cadre of public-sector skills. Egypt continues to buy in expertise in technical areas such as financial modelling. Smaller economies such as Rwanda, Uganda, Zambia and Ghana face a broader shortage of skilled staff with expertise in areas such as risk evaluation, contract design, project preparation and financing, and economic analysis of PPP benefits compared with alternatives—although this is changing with the development of dedicated PPP units. Greater numbers of skilled legal experts are also needed, both to improve laws and ensure swift and efficient legal processes in the event of dispute. Countries have sought external help from donors in project support, training and funding. While this can alleviate pressures, all countries need to build long-term internal capabilities.

Improved risk allocation is needed

Allocation of risk between private and public sectors is a complex area for PPPs, due to the unpredictable nature of project risk. Most countries score in the middle to lower tier in this indicator. The top performer is South Africa, where risk is appropriately allocated between public and private actors, with financial instruments being used extensively. South Africa's PPP unit has a risk mitigation function and the system has been successfully tested in Gautrain, Africa's largest PPP, where risk allocation is judged to have been successful—with the private party taking on revenue, environmental, fare collection and construction risk, supported by a "patronage guarantee" in which the government financially supports the concessionaire's costs when user revenues are below a certain level.

Tunisia is also a comparatively high performer in this group. Although it lacks an institution with an explicit mandate to advise contracting agencies on risk, it has guidelines in relevant laws, and a draft regulation is set to improve the framework, while the use of guarantees and performance bonds has been generally successful. In Morocco, Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana, Uganda, Tanzania, Kenya, Cameroon, and Rwanda, there is a generally fair distribution of risk, but renegotiations are more common and there is only occasional use of financial instruments (insurance, guarantees and performance bonds). For countries with access to international capital markets like Morocco, international lenders can also help shape the risk distribution system. Countries that do not have access can introduce their own facilities, such as Uganda's escrow mechanism in electricity distribution, and its liquidity guarantee schemes.

Other countries have taken measures to improve risk allocation. Egypt's PPP framework, for instance, is designed to improve on previous "Build, Operate, Transfer" projects common in the 1990s, in which government assumed all risks of exchange rate fluctuations and suffered significant losses. Morocco's government is focusing on strengthening key provisions such as protection against unforeseeable events, dispute resolution procedures or changes in law, while Uganda's draft law identifies areas of risk to be covered in PPP agreements, including regulatory, demand, land acquisition, environment and foreign exchange.



4) Investment climate

4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE

·/ -········		
Rank		Score
1	Rwanda	61.3
2	Tunisia	60.1
3	Morocco	59.3
4	Côte d'Ivoire	58.3
=5	Ghana	58.1
=5	Tanzania	58.1
7	Cameroon	55.8
8	Egypt	54.6
9	Кепуа	53.6
10	Nigeria	52.8
11	Angola	52.6
12	Uganda	52.3
13	Democratic Republic of the Congo	50.1
14	South Africa	46.4
15	Zambia	39.2

Investment climate is a strong area of improvement, although political distortion drags down half of the countries

Across all indicator categories, the strongest performance is in investment climate, in which all countries are ranked as "emerging" or "mature". This is the result of widespread business environment reforms over the last decade, with the majority of African countries enacting more investor-friendly laws and frameworks. From rule of law and macroeconomic stability through to investment incentives and ease of business processes to reduce bureaucracy, reforms have supported the continent's economic performance, with some particularly active reformers such as Rwanda.

Of the three indicators measured in this category—political will, business environment and political distortion – the first two are positive for most countries. The overall score is, however, brought down by low performance under the political distortion category, which evaluates the level of political influence affecting the private sector, in which six countries score in the bottom rank of "Nascent". This reflects challenges surrounding institutions, governance levels, and transparency.

Broader stakeholder engagement needed to secure social acceptance of PPPs

PPPs have political backing in most countries, and private participation in infrastructure is a component of national development plans in some. However, there is unease about the right model among public-sector actors. In Tanzania and Tunisia, failed privatisations have been associated with PPPs, even though the models are different. Open dialogue and educational campaigns are needed to ensure that the public is well informed about the PPP model. Countries can also put in place checks and



balances to minimise potential cronyism. In Kenya, members of the Petitions Committee, which deals with complaints, hold office for a term of only three years and are eligible for re-appointment for one further term, which ensures no long-term, entrenched relationships. The decisions of this Petitions Committee are final and binding on parties.

More public engagement is also necessary, as PPPs can entail difficult decisions over tariffs, tolls and fees to ensure financial sustainability for investors. Public protests against a range of price hikes in Uganda (electricity) and Nigeria (fuel), and criticisms of earlier concession or privatisation attempts such as those relating to Enfidha Airport in Tunisia or rail and electricity projects in Cameroon, pose a challenge for governments seeking to ensure attractive returns to investors in the context of large numbers of low-income citizens.

Economic integration driving regional PPPs

There are few multi-country PPPs in Africa, and lack of regional infrastructure is one of the main bottlenecks for economic development across the continent. Intra-African trade remains low and results in fragmented markets and loss of potential synergies. By pooling resources and markets, African countries could increase the viability and attractiveness of PPPs on a regional level. However, the challenges of multi-country infrastructure are significantly greater than single-country projects due to the added complexity of harmonising different legal frameworks and regulations.

The East African Community is the most advanced bloc in terms of regional integration, and these countries (Tanzania, Kenya, Uganda, Burundi and Rwanda) have launched a specific programme to increase capital markets integration. Kenya and Uganda are already pushing ahead with the first regional PPP in East Africa, the Rift Valley Railways project, a concession awarded jointly. After a troubled beginning, the project is now considered a benchmark for future cross-country PPPs, as well as being a testament to the resilience of governments in seeing through projects despite setbacks. Meanwhile, the Southern African Development Community is in the midst of advancing its regional PPP pipeline, with PPPs expected to play a role in the region's investment master plan, worth US\$500bn between 2014 and 2017, and a shortlist currently under development⁴.

⁴ http://www. bdlive.co.za/africa/ africanbusiness/2013/10/24/ infrastructure-ppp-forumlaunched-to-boost-regionaldevelopment



5) Financial facilities

5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES

Rank		Score
1	South Africa	91.7
2	Kenya	55.6
3	Morocco	52.8
4	Tunisia	44.4
5	Rwanda	41.7
=6	Côte d'Ivoire	38.9
=6	Ghana	38.9
=6	Tanzania	38.9
=6	Uganda	38.9
=10	Angola	33.3
=10	Egypt	33.3
=10	Nigeria	33.3
13	Zambia	30.6
14	Cameroon	27.8
15	Democratic Republic of the Congo	5.6

Few countries have a deep, liquid local market for private infrastructure, although progress is being made

The only country with sufficient financial market depth to fully enable PPP financing is South Africa. Its banks are well regulated and well capitalised, there is a large and reliable local market for hedging instruments, and its ability to structure finance is ahead of its peers. Morocco's banking sector has reasonable financing capacity to fund PPPs but limited experience to date, and Kenya has some finance and risk instruments. These three countries lead the continent in this indicator.

Local markets for private infrastructure finance are slowly developing in the remaining countries, but hedging instruments are less robust, and there is a heavy reliance on external funding. Nonetheless, there are clear signs of progress. Ghana has passed a law to set up a Ghana Infrastructure Investment Fund, which will be made operational in the third quarter of 2015. Nigeria has introduced a standardised loan document that boosts efficiency, as project loan applicants and lenders now have a single "go to" document to work from. Nigeria's reforms to its pension system could also unlock financing for infrastructure—and on longer timelines than the country's typical seven-year loan cycles.

Deepening of capital markets is evident in other countries based on the growing number of successful bond issuances for infrastructure projects, such as Côte d'Ivoire, whose 2014 Eurobond issuance was oversubscribed. Côte d'Ivoire also benefits from the fact that its currency, the CFA, is pegged to the euro, thus reducing the need for foreign exchange hedging instruments. Others are experimenting with local bond issuances—in October 2014 Uganda's Kampala City Council Authority announced plans to issue a bond to raise infrastructure financing, joining the likes of Johannesburg (South Africa), Cape Town (South Africa) and Douala (Cameroon), who have all issued municipal bonds.⁵

⁵ http://www.cmauganda. co.ug/news/capitalmarkets-financing-betterkampala-city



Other countries are also making inroads in this area. Angola is undertaking changes to its financial system to create markets for financing its growing portfolio of infrastructure projects, and has established regulations governing the financial services industry. It is also opening up its secondary debt markets with plans to inaugurate a new stock exchange in 2016.

Government payment risk is mostly moderate, with some good performers

The majority of countries score in the top three of five tiers in terms of fulfilling payment obligations. The lead scorers are Morocco, Côte d'Ivoire, Rwanda, South Africa and Kenya. South Africa's sovereign has defaulted only once in its history and the government's public financial management is strong. Morocco has an investment-grade rating and reliable access to international capital markets at favourable rates, and the country has pursued a range of policy reforms to strengthen the government's fiscal position and reduce payment risk further. Most of the remaining countries perform in the middle tier in terms of payment, with higher risks in DRC, Zambia and Ghana.

Subsidy targeting is a key challenge in balancing private participation with citizens' access

One further financial or payment factor influencing the PPP environment concerns the ability of citizens to afford the services that many PPPs offer. Subsidies can either be supply side, where operators are given various cost breaks to incentivise their investment (such as Cameroon's subsidisation of the costs of new water connections), or demand side, where citizens are helped if the price of a PPP service would otherwise be out of reach. Kenya, for instance, offers some subsidies for rail passenger fares, and has tariff adjustments in the water and electricity sectors to promote access among the poor.

The challenge for government is to provide subsidies in a way that does not unduly distort economic activities, such as leading to wastage of resources, or to wealthier citizens unduly benefiting from certain subsidies—known as regressive subsidies—due to their greater consumption of those resources. This is a particular challenge in areas such as fuel subsidies, where wealthier citizens consume more than the low-income population, thus benefiting from the reduced cost.

South Africa has the highest ranking in terms of providing satisfactory subsidies for low-income users. Most of the remaining countries occasionally provide subsidies but these can be distortionary or poorly targeted. There are some examples of innovative approaches that achieve their desired end without leading to wastage or unequal benefits—Cameroon's water subsidy scheme is an example which focused on connections rather than consumption, driving up investment and infrastructure development. But in a number of countries there is a need for greater targeting of subsidies. Moreover, there is a longer-term trend of countries drawing down subsidy programmes in the interests of maintaining balanced finances. Zambia removed its subsidies in 2013 due to lack of funds, and Tanzania and Rwanda are both drawing down or phasing out subsidies. One challenge for some of these countries is the impact of commodity prices on subsidies—falling copper prices, for example, influenced Zambia's decision to draw down its subsidy programme, and the drop in oil price may affect countries like Angola, which use oil revenues to fund some of their own subsidy programmes.



6) Subnational adjustment

6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT

Rank		Score
=1	Cameroon	50.0
=1	Egypt	50.0
=1	Nigeria	50.0
=1	Rwanda	50.0
=1	South Africa	50.0
=1	Tanzania	50.0
=1	Uganda	50.0
=8	Angola	25.0
=8	Côte d'Ivoire	25.0
=8	Democratic Republic of the Congo	25.0
=8	Ghana	25.0
=8	Кепуа	25.0
=8	Morocco	25.0
=8	Tunisia	25.0
=8	Zambia	25.0

All countries allow subnational PPPs, and a considerable number have been carried out although technical capacity is weaker at local levels

PPPs often occur at the level of smaller jurisdictions within countries—such as provinces, municipalities, counties or states—and an important factor determining the strength of the PPP environment concerns the ability of countries to manage PPPs at both subnational and national levels. Some countries such as Nigeria, Egypt, Cameroon, Uganda, Rwanda, Tanzania and South Africa have carried out regional or municipal concessions. In other countries subnational PPPs are allowed but not common, due to either capacity constraints or cumbersome processes.

Local capacity is a challenge even for countries that have experience with subnational PPPs. In South Africa, the municipal-level capacities are weaker than those at the national government level; regulations are more complex; and municipal authorities are considered higher-risk by credit risk agencies⁶. Egypt, like South Africa, has tendered PPPs at a subnational level, and has plans for future subnational tenders, but capacity shortfalls are more acute at local than central government level.

In Nigeria, in contrast, the local level is where much of the implementation of concessions takes place, with individual state governments exercising relative autonomy in implementing their own projects. Each state makes its laws and regulations. This is facilitated by the fact that each state has its own PPP unit to oversee projects within its jurisdiction. This stands in contrast to Tunisia, where regional governorates can conclude concession contracts only after final approval from the Ministry of Interior.

⁶ http://mg.co.za/ article/2012-05-12-toughtimes-for-local-authorities



Infrascope country summaries

The following section provides a brief profile of the PPP environment for each of the 15 countries in this study and their performance in the index. Countries are listed in alphabetical order. Note that the information selected for the country profiles is intended to provide a high-level overview; it is not intended to provide an outline of the legal environment or represent a comprehensive account of all recent activity.

	Score	Rank
OVERALL SCORE	31.4	14
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	28.1	14
2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	16.7	=14
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	37.5	8
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	52.6	11
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	33.3	=10
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	25.0	=8

• Angola has ambitious infrastructure spending plans to transform its economy and continue rehabilitation efforts following a near three-decade civil war that ended in 2002. Nearly US\$30bn were earmarked for energy and water projects in the country's National Development Plan. However, PPPs are playing virtually no role.

• The PPP legislation that exists has been largely based on the experience of Portugal, whose own PPP record is somewhat mixed, with little adaptation to local conditions. On paper, some of Angola's PPP regulations and laws are reasonable. It has, for instance, passed a single law governing concession projects, suggesting a single and unified regulatory approach. It also has, on paper, fair and transparent mechanisms for resolving conflicts between the state and operators. However, the implementation is rather different. The actual legal environment is very weak, with minimal contract enforcement, a weak judiciary and the regular superseding of laws by those with political connections.



Angola has no arbitration or mediation institution, nor does it have any private institutions focused on providing means of alternative dispute resolution.

• One area of progress is that Angola is making major changes to its financial system in a bid to create markets for financing its growing portfolio of infrastructure projects, and has established a series of regulations governing the financial services industry. It is also opening up its secondary debt markets, with plans to inaugurate a new stock exchange in 2016.



Cameroon

	Score	Rank
OVERALL SCORE	38.2	11
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	43.8	11
2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	25.0	=11
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	31.3	=11
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	55.8	7
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	27.8	14
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	50.0	=1

• Cameroon has, since the mid-2000s, established a regulatory and institutional framework to support PPPs. Many sectors are covered, including energy, telecommunications, transport, water, education and health. Most relevant regulations were passed between 2006 and 2009. They allow for PPPs to be established in all sectors and by several state actors and provide a framework for preparation, selection, implementation and oversight of PPPs, as well as for the management of disputes between contractors. Regulations have also provided for the establishment of a PPP unit, known by its French acronym CARPA, which became fully operational in 2009.

• The process for determining which projects to finance through PPPs involves three actors: the public entity (line ministry, local authority or public enterprise), the Ministry of Finance, and CARPA. Each carries out one of the three phases: a pre-feasibility study (carried out by the public entity); a budgetary analysis (carried out by the Ministry of Finance); and a project assessment (carried out by CARPA). While the Ministry's analysis relates to issues such as budget sustainability and financing, CARPA provides the expert assessment, such as analysing whether a PPP would outperform other forms of procurement in terms of cost, efficiency and risk-sharing. CARPA plays a key role in later stages of the project cycle, such as determining compensation in the event of project cancellation or amendments, and has responsibility for PPP capacity-building.

• While Cameroon's regulations are sufficiently comprehensive to enable PPPs, and it has a dedicated unit in CARPA, the number of projects has lagged behind official objectives. One concern is that regulations are not always optimally designed. For instance, the law allows for PPPs to be selected for a variety of reasons other than value for money, leading to a lack of clarity on project selection criteria. The Ministry of Finance could be more involved at all stages of the preparation and selection process. In addition, the three-step project selection phase outlined above is not always followed, and CARPA can be bypassed. In terms of the institutional environment, there is scope for much greater coordination and communication between CARPA, the Ministry of Finance and line ministries. To these must be added acute human resources constraints, slow decision-making processes, the influence of vested interests, and a judicial system that would benefit from reform.



Côte d'Ivoire

	Score	Rank
OVERALL SCORE	45.5	6
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	53.1	5
2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	50.0	=2
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	34.4	=9
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	58.3	4
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	38.9	=6
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	25.0	=8

• Infrastructure has been an urgent priority of Côte d'Ivoire's President Ouattara since taking office in May 2011, with projects including the Henri Konan Bédié (HKB) Bridge, a container terminal in Abidjan and highway projects.

• The current regulatory environment was put in place in late 2012 after the issuance of a presidential decree. The contracting approach is lean and based on principles of equal access, transparency, competitive bidding, value for money, sound risk allocation, sound management of revenues, and promotion of local businesses and employment. The institutional set-up is also determined by a 2012 decree that constructed the administrative apparatus responsible for shepherding PPP projects from preparation through to post-contract oversight. It is organised in a policy cell under the presidency, the National Steering Committee of the Public Private Partnership (CNP-PPP) and its technical offshoots, the SE-PPP and CO-PPP. In principle, there is no differentiation in treatment of PPPs by sector, as the relevant sector ministry or contracting authority must coordinate with the CNP-PPP from inception to completion of the project process and obtain its approval for contracting.

• The primary challenge for PPPs is ensuring competitive bidding, contracting, and outcomes in an environment in which concerns around no-bid or restricted bidding have been voiced. Some large-scale projects have faced criticism on this front. The most salient new PPP, the HKB Bridge in Abidjan which began operation in late 2014, was awarded before the new policy took effect, on a no-bid basis, having been initiated in the mid-1990s and then lying dormant for a decade. In April 2014, the government signed a framework agreement for the future Abidjan light rail system ("Train urbain d'Abidjan") with a consortium for an expected concession period of 40 years. This award was made without a bidding process, after another group withdrew from consideration, citing poor economic viability of the project. Whilst economic and financial criteria were applied, their actual salience in the awarding of projects has been questioned by other bidders.

• A second challenge relates to over-reliance on presidential authority exercised through decrees and centralisation. The current approach relies on a technical staff concentrated in and around the services of the presidency, and on a framework established by decree, not by a law passed in parliament. This technocratic, centralised approach may be beneficial for project initiation in the near term, and reflects the government's commitment to infrastructure development, but makes the PPP process dependent on individual leaders rather than being embedded in the permanent institutions of government. As more PPP projects emerge from the pipeline it will become possible to assess whether the approach is effective and sustainable.



Democratic Republic of the Congo

Rank
15
15
=14
15
13
15
=8

• The Democratic Republic of the Congo has private participation in infrastructure, including landmark projects such as the Grand Inga dam and a range of road, electricity, real estate and mining projects. The country lacks a structured legal framework or operational plan for PPPs, with institutional roles and procedures defined. A number of general and sector-specific laws regulate the attribution and establishment of concessions. Each project is carried out from sector ministries following their own guidelines and strategies. The domestic laws of decentralisation allow provinces and other territorial entities in DRC to carry out infrastructure concessions as well. Donor organisations as well as non-governmental organisations (NGOs) have provided training and other forms of assistance for project management to public authorities and agencies.

• The legal framework is not optimal. There is a lack of transparency and consistency around bidding processes, which can proceed on a highly informal basis. Project selection and decision-making processes are ill-defined, non-transparent and subject to change. There are no clear provisions in the existing laws that address economic criteria for contract award. There is no single entry point for private actors who, depending on the project at hand, will contact the Prime Minister's Office, Minister of portfolio (in charge of state enterprises), the relevant Minister in the sector, or the President's Office. Within these bodies there are several different powerbrokers that private actors need to engage with.

• In February 2014 the country passed a law specifically addressing PPPs, designed to create a more efficient business environment and create rules governing the collection of taxes, duties and fees from companies involved in PPPs. However, this does not represent an encompassing legal framework as it does not establish an institutional framework or procedures to carry out PPPs. Accounts from late 2014 indicate that the government has started drafting a PPP bill that completes the legal and institutional framework.

• In addition to its need for a comprehensive PPP legal framework, the country faces a number of challenges. Social tensions continue to simmer and overall security is weak in the eastern provinces as well as the economically important Katanga region and the capital of Kinshasa. Courts often fail to respect due process. However, Congolese law permits the parties to PPP contracts to opt for other arbitral regimes. The DRC is a signatory of the International Center of Settlements of Investment Disputes and New York conventions, two of the most important mechanisms for international arbitration.



• Corruption is present, despite a "zero-tolerance" campaign launched in 2009. The tax regime is complex and unpredictable, often subject to regional differences and arbitrary semi-official fees. Inefficiency, high taxes and cumbersome procedures make DRC one of the world's worst performing tax regimes. The new law should, however, help clarify the tax regime regarding companies involved in PPP projects.



Egypt

	Score	Rank
OVERALL SCORE	51.0	4
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	59.4	3
2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	50.0	=2
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	53.1	3
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	54.6	8
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	33.3	=10
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	50.0	=1

• Egypt has increased infrastructure spending significantly of late, with fiscal stimulus packages and targeted investments channelled to a range of projects spanning natural gas distribution, homes, water and sanitation, ports, rail and airports. This is a step to address a backlog of not-yet-awarded projects that some have estimated to be worth close to US\$150bn⁷. The current government is strongly in favour of PPPs.

• There is a regulatory framework allowing national-level PPP projects across sectors, dating to laws and regulations passed in 2010 and 2011. The laws are generally considered in line with international best practice, containing regulations requiring that qualified investors are dealt with in a manner that ensures equal opportunity and fairness, and that confidential data are not disclosed. The practice in bidding and awarding is thought to be transparent. It is compulsory to perform a cost-benefit analysis using a public-sector comparator—an improvement on pre-2010 approaches when alternative modes of delivery were not assessed in the economic feasibility studies. The framework also lays down limits to negotiations after bids have been accepted, and requires investor consent for contract changes. The 2010 PPP law explicitly prohibits confiscation or compulsory acquisition of project assets by the government. Furthermore, the 2010 legislation has been strengthened in subsequent years. In early 2012, Egypt amended the rules relating to PPPs to give the option of arbitration (instead of using the Egyptian courts), which would take place under the UN Commission on International Trade Law (UNCTRAL) at the Cairo Regional Centre for International Commercial Arbitration.

• The institutional design of PPPs in Egypt centres upon the Supreme Committee for Public Private Partnership Affairs. The Supreme Committee is chaired by the Prime Minister and includes the Ministers of Finance, Investment, Economic Development, Legal Affairs, Housing and Utilities and Transportation, as well as the Head of the Public Private Partnership Central Unit (PPPCU). The Prime Minister may include other ministers based on their relevance to the project under discussion.

• The PPPCU was set up in 2006 and based on international models. It is mandated to manage the full life cycle of PPPs (project initiation and screening, business case, risk assessment and value-for-money analysis, tendering and procurement, bid selection, contract signing and financial closure, and post-award performance monitoring). The PPPCU's role is to provide technical, financial and legal expertise to the relevant line ministries—for example, by contracting competent advisors, monitoring tendering procedures, and publishing relevant studies.

⁷ https://globalconnections. hsbc.com/uae/en/articles/ egypt-puts-infrastructure-topagenda



• There is room to strengthen the legal and institutional architectures. The first area is the coordination challenge, as ministries sometimes move ahead with infrastructure projects under sector- or project-specific laws, as has been the case in electricity, oil and gas. Amending the PPP law to introduce a centralised process would avoid the emergence of different sector-specific approaches, provided that the law overrides sector-specific regulation. A second area of legal strengthening concerns fiscal oversight. Egypt has no specific regulation or procedure to allow the Budget Office to approve, from a fiscal perspective, PPP projects at different stages. Measuring the full range of contingent liabilities is important in maintaining fiscal discipline.

• One challenge has been the tendency of some ministries to proceed with projects unilaterally. The PPPCU has experienced difficulties gaining the buy-in of portfolio ministries and of establishing satellite PPP units in ministries that resist central coordination of the Finance Ministry. It has recently sought to improve relationships with the line ministries by renewing efforts to create satellite units, and training the ministries' own staff to empower them and increase their capacity to manage contracts—more of such efforts will be beneficial.

• Another area of required strengthening concerns the PPPCU's capacities. It lacks capacity to assist with the planning and management of multiple complex projects in parallel. It has the right mix of staff but not in sufficient numbers to assist line ministries in developing business cases for PPPs. Egypt has difficulty retaining trained staff who may be offered high salaries in the private sector. Given the scale of the government's infrastructure plans, these improvements will be necessary to ensure adequate coordination and delivery.



Ghana

	Score	Rank
OVERALL SCORE	43.0	10
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	50.0	=6
2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	41.7	9
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	34.4	=9
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	58.1	=5
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	38.9	=6
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	25.0	=8

• Ghana has growing PPP experience but lacks a comprehensive legal framework. A national PPP policy document was issued in 2011, detailing principles. According to the policy, PPPs can be undertaken in all sectors and by all government units if the project meets need, risk, value, and affordability standards. The policy states that a project must be in a sector identified by the National Infrastructure Plan. Beyond this, there is no stated differentiation between sectors, although the policy allows the government to develop a sector-specific PPP plan if needed. The policy sets out that PPPs are guided by principles that include value for money, optimised risk allocation, end-user ability to pay, accountability and transparency. It enshrines the principle of allocating risks according to ability to manage them, but it does not provide for specific mechanisms to achieve this goal.

• This policy has been sufficient to guide a handful of projects into the study phase, but a final bill is still awaiting passage. The draft bill is in line with international standards and strong on detail in terms of PPP selection and bidding processes, but less advanced in post-contract enforcement and dispute resolution. Both the existing policy and the proposed law are weighted towards the "front end" in terms of detail—i.e. project preparation—and are less detailed in post-award oversight. The biggest challenge, however, is not the bill itself, which is likely to change, but the slowness of its passage into law which is being revised due to changes in institutional structures. This may not now occur until late 2015, or even 2016, an election year. This can create some uncertainty for investors, who prefer to enter into projects when the legal foundations are set. A second challenge concerns the imbalance at the institutional level between a technocratic driver agency that centralises skills (the Public Investment Division, a cell in the Ministry of Finance) and the broader contracting authorities and public stakeholders. While the Public Investment Division can help push projects in the feasibility stage, broader informed involvement will be necessary for later stages of PPP cycles.



Kenya

	Score	Rank
OVERALL SCORE	51.4	3
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	65.6	2
2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	50.0	=2
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	40.6	=6
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	53.6	9
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	55.6	2
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	25.0	=8

• Kenya has made significant progress in the PPP landscape over the past few years. Guidelines were passed in 2009, marking the first set of regulations governing concession projects. Previously, projects were awarded based on general law, and subsequently through the law governing public procurement. Concession awards were mainly driven by the Ministry of Energy, with one concession in the transport sector.

• The 2009 Guidelines were followed by the PPP Act in 2013, which governs private investment in public projects, irrespective of the government agency contracting out the service or asset. This full-fledged law has made PPPs an integral part of the Kenya's Private Sector Development Strategy, and has been assessed positively by external commentators.

• In terms of institutional design, three bodies play a significant role in the current process in Kenya: the PPP Unit, the PPP Committee and the "Nodes". The Cabinet and county governments also play an approval role. Domiciled at the National Treasury, the PPP Unit oversees project preparation and planning, and serves as a national centre for PPP expertise. It provides technical support for PPP implementation, specifically around monitoring of liabilities and accounting issues related to projects. The Unit also makes recommendations on the approval or rejection of projects prior to submission to the PPP Committee—the entity that approves project proposals and interfaces with higher levels of government, including the Cabinet. The final stakeholder is the "PPP Node", headed by the accounting office of the relevant contracting authority. It facilitates identification and screening of PPP projects, appraises each project agreement to ensure viability, ensures that parties comply with the PPP Act, and undertakes tender processes and monitoring.

• To build on its progress, there are four areas requiring attention. The first is to harmonise the institutional framework established by the PPP Act with existing regulations that pre-date the law. This is particularly relevant for sectors that undertook PPPs prior to the Act, such as the energy sector. A second challenge will be harmonising the institutional framework between national and county levels. The process of setting up PPP Units at the county level is ongoing, and will make PPP project implementation clearer—especially in cases where projects involve the use of natural resources (e.g. wind) which are owned by the counties. The third challenge concerns human resources. Units at both national and county levels need to be staffed with trained personnel with PPP-specific knowledge. At the moment, most transactions rely on international advisors. Finally, the legal framework is a relatively new piece of legislation that has borrowed from international best practice, but has not yet been tested for effectiveness since there is no single PPP project that has been successfully undertaken from commencement to completion under this Act. Time will test the laws and their robustness.



Morocco

	Score	Rank
OVERALL SCORE	51.8	2
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	56.3	4
2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	50.0	=2
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	56.3	2
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	59.3	3
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	52.8	3
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	25.0	=8

• Morocco has a long history of PPPs, with water, sanitation, electricity and transport projects. The trend was reversed after independence when national monopolies were established, but liberalisation since the 1980s has seen a resurgence of private involvement in public services. There is currently a clear political will in support of PPPs. A new PPP unit was formed in 2011, and new legislation tabled in 2012 and enacted into law in 2015.

• The regulatory environment has several strengths. The state applies competitive processes for most awarded contracts, and bidding and dispute resolution schemes are generally considered fair, transparent and efficient. The provisions governing risk allocation follow international best practice. Liquidity guarantees help reduce risk. Morocco has greater capacity to fund PPPs than most countries on the continent; its banks are larger and have more financial resources, providing it with the necessary solvency and liquidity. Nonetheless, these banks do not yet have sufficient experience. Greater specialised PPP lending expertise could help the banking sector to play a larger role in PPP financing.

• The regulatory framework has been sector-specific; until recently, the country lacked a single PPP-specific law that included all aspects of the regulatory environment for infrastructure PPPs. The framework does not cover procurement by central government, and the obligation to use competitive bidding is not applicable to the state for any delegated management of public service, meaning that the state has the right to choose a contracting party without a bidding process. The framework also has no clear legal basis for the regulation of projects other than concessions. Bidding procedures are designed on a project-by-project basis and are set out in the tender document. Rules governing the selection of the private partner for the award of the concession need to be enhanced to improve transparency.

• At the institutional level, the current legal framework could be made clearer in terms of the interaction between the bodies that award PPPs and those that regulate tariffs and service standards. Risk allocation between the public and private sector could also be standardised. In addition, there are capacity challenges. There are no sustainable PPP training programmes for civil servants at the national level. PPP courses are not part of university curricula, and there are no specialist departments or faculties in universities. There is also a lack of a national, municipal, or regional long-term programme for PPP promotion and awareness.



• Morocco's score under this indicator is based on the PPP environment at the close of January 2015. A new law was passed at the end of February 2015, based on PPP contracts in various countries including France, Spain and Egypt. This law outlines three different tender procedures—competitive dialogue, call for tenders and a negotiated procedure—and provides for a commission to issue opinions on PPP contracts, offer preliminary assessments, and award contracts. The law also outlines clauses clarifying issues surrounding public financing and performance. It is yet to be tested and operationalised, so has not yet contributed to Morocco's overall PPP readiness.



Nigeria

	Score	Rank
OVERALL SCORE	36.8	12
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	31.3	13
2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	25.0	=11
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	40.6	=6
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	52.8	10
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	33.3	=10
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	50.0	=1

• Nigeria is now Africa's largest economy but infrastructure remains one of its primary obstacles. There is an annual financing gap of US\$8bn, and US\$2.9tn of infrastructure investment is needed over the next 30 years according to government statements. While it has market fundamentals such as population, demography and GDP growth in its favour, Nigeria continues to underperform when it comes to the business environment, and this remains the case in PPPs.

• Nigeria has pursued PPPs at both federal and state level, with a relatively low distress rate in the 31 projects that currently exist in the country's energy, water and transport sectors. The main body governing PPPs is the Infrastructure Concession Regulatory Commission, which is a voluntary body that regulates and supervises the PPP sector and coordinates the interests of public-sector agencies and their private-sector partners. But each state exercises relative autonomy in implementing projects and, as such, each state makes and enforces its own laws and regulations.

• The PPP environment faces a range of challenges. The consistency of the framework for implementing PPPs varies depending on sectors or layers of government. For example, roads projects have more developed laws and practices, thanks to past PPP experience, compared with railways. Most arrangements and contracts are executed at the state level. Federal agencies have limited project expertise and experience, and the strength of political will in favour of PPPs varies from state to state.

• The largest problem is the gap between what should happen in theory and what happens in reality. For example, the government has developed a strong set of fair and transparent laws and procedures to settle disputes, but they do not always work well in practice. The level of contract enforcement in Nigeria is very low. Politically powerful actors can steer legal processes in their favour, while private operators have been known to use the threat of a lawsuit when a dispute arises to force their government counterparty to bend to their demands.

• Questionable practices sometimes occur in bidding and tendering processes. Regulations for national-level concession projects do not unfairly favour certain bidders and operators, but in practice such favouritism may occur. Despite formal processes, closed-door negotiations do take place. The judiciary occasionally upholds PPP operator and investor rights and arbitration rulings, but the process can be slow.



• There are other institutional shortcomings to be overcome. Nigeria's legal framework does not sufficiently allocate responsibilities across institutions in ways that could lower transaction and operational costs, nor does it maintain checks and balances for fiscal and renegotiation risks, or provide strong incentives for enforcing high quality standards. Finally, Nigeria has a mixed record in using objective economic factors as the primary consideration in final project and contract awards. Banking institutions in Nigeria that have been approached for PPP financing claim that many projects are not properly packaged. In other words, they do not clearly outline a business case, or a clear path to profitability.



Rwanda

	Score	Rank
OVERALL SCORE	43.5	9
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	46.9	10
2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	33.3	10
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	31.3	=11
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	61.3	1
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	41.7	5
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	50.0	=1

• Rwanda's government has shown support for PPPs through its 2009 National Public Investment Policy, which sets out broad guiding principles for implementation of PPPs, relating to eligibility criteria, competitive selection, risk-sharing, budgeting and accounting. The Decentralization Implementation Policy, adopted in 2012, considered PPPs to be a means to develop rural areas and key sectors. While a PPP-specific law does not exist, the law on public procurement incorporates the provision of PPPs.

• PPPs have been operational without a single overarching framework. The Rwanda Development Board is currently the leading agency in PPP promotion and reports directly to the President. In most cases, PPP contracts are being supported by ministries and at the highest level of the state. This has proven sufficient to see a number of projects proceed. Rwanda's first PPP-type arrangements consisted of piped water schemes signed with district authorities in 2004. According to a 2014 report by the East African Chamber of Commerce, Industry and Agriculture, around 19 projects in the energy, ICT, agriculture and trade and manufacturing sectors were implemented between 2013 and 2014. These include six energy projects with independent power producers, with more projects in the pipeline.

• At the legal level, Rwanda's PPP arrangements are organised on a contract-by-contract basis, but some definitions of the legal and institutional framework for PPPs have been developed. The government has recently finalised a draft PPP law that is stated to encourage the regulation of PPPs in a "fair and transparent manner", and aims to provide "more clarity" to potential investors. As it stands, a PPP law would help to attract private investors to partner with the public sector in concession projects. A further area of development would be greater technical capacity in the country to deliver PPPs.



South Africa

	Score	Rank
OVERALL SCORE	70.7	1
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	75.0	1
2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	75.0	1
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	75.0	1
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	46.4	14
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	91.7	1
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	50.0	=1

• South Africa's PPP environment ranks the highest in this Infrascope, with a solid track record in delivering major projects including Africa's largest PPP: the Gautrain rail project. The country has a strong business infrastructure, a sophisticated financial sector, and comparatively high standards in accounting, regulatory structures and law. The current PPP framework largely dates back to 1997, with the formation of a task force to support PPPs, followed by the publication of a strategic framework in 1999 and Treasury regulations in 2000, which continue to govern aspects of PPPs.

• A technical and professionalised PPP unit was eventually formed and is well capacitated. The government, through the PPP Unit, plays a lead role in identifying the need for a PPP, developing a business case, designing the project, procuring a private party, ensuring that procedures are complied with, and monitoring performance. PPPs generally involve the private party raising debt and equity to finance the project, by means of a special purpose vehicle (SPV), the sole function of which is to deliver the project. Procurement and bid processes have built-in safeguards of disclosure, oversight and internal and external audits; risk allocation is generally assigned to the party best able to bear it. While PPPs continue to be largely governed by regulations from the early 2000s, they are influenced by the more recent Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act that determines quotas for black ownership and management control in private enterprises. Bidders are rated on a scorecard system for their empowerment credentials, which is a factor in the decision-making process in awarding the project.

• While South Africa's regulatory and legal environment is generally of a high standard, some challenges remain. At the regulatory level, municipal legislation is more complex than at the national level, and risk is generally greater for local projects. Some private-sector players consider local content requirements to be too demanding, and there are cumbersome administrative processes. Some investors claim that the procurement process disproportionately favours government, and that it has lost some of its transparency and objectivity.

• Perhaps the biggest challenge for South African PPPs is the broader macroeconomic and political volatility including labour unrest and currency volatility. Government, while broadly supportive of PPPs, especially in renewable energy, has been less committed and coordinated in recent years. Trade unions are somewhat sceptical of PPPs and sometimes conflate them with privatisation of government assets and potential job losses. The public also has its share of sceptics, and service delivery protests, sometimes violent, have been a feature of unrest in South Africa of late. Citizens object to price changes related to PPPs, with some refusing to pay electronic tolls on Gauteng's new highways, for instance. Private investors have also been unnerved by the sudden cancellation of some tenders.



Tanzania

	Score	Rank
OVERALL SCORE	48.6	5
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	50.0	=6
2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	50.0	=2
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	43.8	5
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	58.1	=5
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	38.9	=6
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	50.0	=1

• Tanzania's experience with PPPs dates back to the 1990s, with major transport, power and water projects pursued as part of a privatisation drive. Despite a mixed record over the last 20 years, PPPs are destined to play an important part of the government's US\$10bn "Big Results Now" capital spending programme. PPPs have support from senior officials.

• The main current change to the PPP environment is a bill to amend the existing framework. Tabled in parliament in November 2014, and passed by the President in December, the bill brings important changes to the institutional and regulatory structures governing PPPs. To improve the cumbersome bureaucratic processes currently experienced by private-sector companies, a one-stop shop would be created through the merger of the Coordination Unit and the Finance Units, and this PPP Centre would report into the Prime Minister's Office. This line of reporting reduces the potential for infighting and would help coordinate investment decisions. The PPP Centre would vet proposed schemes and provide a more efficient and centralised system for investors to interact with.

• The amended bill would establish a new fund to finance feasibility studies and other costs incurred by contracting authorities. In the past, some feasibility studies have not been sufficiently comprehensive in terms of technical, socio-economic and commercial considerations, leading to poor project design. The amended bill also makes an important change to the handling of unsolicited proposals—which have been very common in Tanzania. Historically, such proposals have not been subject to a mandatory competitive bidding process; this changes under the amended bill by making competitive bidding mandatory. Key challenges to be overcome include lack of capacity and experience in government. In addition, risk-sharing mechanisms between public and private sectors need to be improved, as does the paucity of long-term local financing instruments including guarantees and performance bonds.



Tunisia

	Score	Rank
OVERALL SCORE	45.4	7
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	50.0	=6
2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	50.0	=2
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	31.3	=11
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	60.1	2
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	44.4	4
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	25.0	=8

• Tunisia has experience of user-based concession projects, with private involvement in financing, construction and management dating back to the 1980s. Electricity and transport have received significant PPP awards over the last decade, and there is broad political consensus surrounding the need to engage private participation and provide favourable frameworks.

• The regulatory framework governing PPPs was established through the Concession Act of April 2008, which governs procurement of all concession projects except where there is a sector-specific law, as in energy, sanitation, telecommunications and the digital economy. The key actors in PPP processes are the Office of the Prime Minister (the key decision-making body), the Ministry of Finance (responsible for procurement issues), and the Concessions Unit. While these collectively decide the selection of PPP projects, local authorities can also propose projects and concessions and can conclude concession contracts subject to the final approval of the Minister of the Interior.

• The current legislation has some weaknesses which a draft law is seeking to resolve. It does not clearly outline the ability of bidders to seek remedies against administrative action, for instance, and there is a lack of independent oversight regarding renegotiations. Methodologies for analysing the benefits of PPPs compared with alternatives are not clearly established, and the law does not provide clear guidance on all aspects of interaction between the bodies that have the power to award PPPs and those that regulate tariffs and service standards. In terms of implementation, the effectiveness of laws in practice is moderate to low. A number of areas are unclear and undeveloped.

• Progress towards improved legislation has been under way since the tabling of draft legislation in 2012, which is set to be re-examined in 2015. This draft law is expected to enhance several areas of the legal and regulatory system including: providing principles of risk allocation; providing guidelines for the creation of an institution that could advise contract agencies on risk; financial and contractual issues; and measures to support the use of securities and government guarantees for contracting authorities.

• Along with the need for higher quality legislation, Tunisia also faces capacity gaps. The government lacks a national, municipal or regional long-term programme for PPP promotion and awareness. A second capacity gap concerns the financial sector, which is less capable of engaging in PPP lending than nearby Morocco, for example. The Tunisian banking sector has not been actively engaged in PPP



lending and lacks the expertise of financial institutions of other countries to develop and implement PPP projects.

• Finally, engagement with the public will be needed. Some have reservations about PPPs and the broader concept of transferring public services to the private sector due to a perception that concessions are a hidden form of privatisation, with the risk of higher tariffs being imposed by foreign concessionaires.



Uganda

	Score	Rank
OVERALL SCORE	45.1	8
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	37.5	12
2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	50.0	=2
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	46.9	4
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	52.3	12
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	38.9	=6
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	50.0	=1

• PPPs are viewed by Uganda's government as an important means of bridging the financing gap that is implicit in its ambitious infrastructure plan over the next five years, which is valued at US\$30bn. The country already has PPP experience in electricity and water, and is planning to launch a major transport tender in 2015 for the construction of a road linking the capital to an industrial hub in the East. It is also, with Kenya, a participant in the only East African regional PPP, the Rift Valley Railways project.

• The regulatory framework remains in draft form, deriving from a Cabinet-approved policy in 2010 which was submitted to parliament in 2012 and passed in July 2014. The main elements of the draft law are regarded by PPP experts as being consistent with international best practice and would, among other things, create a dedicated PPP unit to oversee implementation and introduce cost-benefit analysis in the process of project selection, which is currently not compulsory. However, because the law remains in draft form, PPP projects are currently carried out under traditional public procurement procedures, which are not always adequate.

• Eventual approval of the law could provide a significant boost to PPP activity at both the national and local level. However, it has not yet been ratified due to differences of opinion concerning the role of the legislature versus the Attorney General in approving PPPs. There is no clear indication as to when the law will finally be passed, although the general expectation is that this will happen during the course of 2015.

• Until the PPP law is passed, projects will rely on traditional procurement procedures, with PPPs either executed under the existing Privatisation Law or the Public Procurement and Disposal Act. While projects can be and are carried out on an ad hoc basis, a government audit in 2012 found a number of weaknesses which need to be addressed in the new legislation, including improper licensing, the lack of a transparent tariff-setting methodology, inadequate fund injection by concessionaires, and failure to meet government objectives.

• One of the biggest challenges for the country is the limited capacity in government institutions. Although this is likely to remain a significant constraint for the foreseeable future, the establishment of a dedicated PPP Unit may provide some relief. The hope is that, over time, an experienced cadre of staff will be built up in the PPP Unit, who can provide support for the activities of the contracting



authorities that may lack the necessary expertise. Another key challenge is that of educating the general public about the merits of the PPP model and associated conditions needed to ensure success. The government attempted to push through changes to the regulatory regime for the electricity sector in 2012, to ensure that the tariffs charged to consumers would automatically reflect changes in inflation, the exchange rate and fuel prices. However, due to public opposition the authorities were forced to back down. To this must be added political uncertainty which may arise ahead of the next presidential and parliamentary elections in February 2016, which could slow the legislative process (and thus approval of the PPP law) as well as lead to uncertain new policy directions.



Zambia

	Score	Rank
OVERALL SCORE	34.2	13
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	50.0	=6
2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	25.0	=11
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	25.0	14
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	39.2	15
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	30.6	13
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	25.0	=8

• Zambia's colonial history included a number of PPP projects, dating back to Rhodesia Rail, but the current pipeline of projects is fairly small. While the government recognises that sectors of the Zambian economy are short of resources with which to develop infrastructure, and that maintenance of existing infrastructure is needed, its relationship with the private sector faces significant challenges more broadly.

• In 2008, the Zambian government approved a policy framework for the implementation of PPPs covering stakeholder roles, protection of public interest, value for money and service quality, and it was passed by parliament in 2009. PPP processes in transport and water and sanitation are guided by this framework although—with the exception of rail—the Zambian transport sector has not been particularly active.

• One project that was implemented after the legal and policy framework was put in place was the Kasumbalesa Border Infrastructure Project. However, this was terminated on two grounds—it was in the interests of national security to do so, and it did not meet the government criteria, both in terms of value for money and revenue-sharing.

• The framework lacks principles and detail on feasibility studies and those governing the fairness and equity of bids. Moreover, the current government does not appear to have the political will to support PPPs, and has pursued somewhat nationalist economic policies which could hinder private involvement in public infrastructure. Previous reports have also raised concerns about patronage and favouritism in the PPP cycle, and there have been instances of governments failing to honour agreements made by previous administrations, as occurred with Michael Sata's government regarding agreements made by the previous government of Rupiah Banda. A notable example is the cancellation of a US\$120m railway concession funded by three South African companies: Sanlam, Old Mutual and Nedbank.

APPENDIX I: Infrascope background

In 2009 the EIU created a benchmarking index for 19 countries in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) which evaluated their capacity to implement sustainable and efficient concession projects in key infrastructure sectors, principally transport and water. The index, which was intended to serve as a learning tool for PPPs, was commissioned by the Multilateral Investment Fund (MIF), which is part of the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB). The index was constructed using a blend of secondary sources, World Bank and EIU data, primary regulatory and legal texts, and interviews with experts and government officials. It was intended as a guide for policymakers and development institutions seeking to improve country-specific conditions for these vital and complex projects.

Specifically, the index was designed to evaluate readiness and capacity by dividing the PPP project life cycle into six components: 1) a country's legal and regulatory framework for private participation in infrastructure; 2) the design and responsibilities of institutions that prepare, award and oversee projects; 3) a government's ability to uphold laws and regulations for concessions, as well as the number of past projects and their success rate (operational maturity); 4) the business, political and social environment for investment; 5) the financial facilities for funding infrastructure; and 6) the quality of subnational frameworks and experiences in PPPs.

The index had a methodological update in 2010. As part of this process, an expert panel of more than a dozen stakeholders convened at the IDB's headquarters in Washington, DC to debate changes to the methodology. After this review, the Infrascope was expanded to include the electricity sector—the previous index covered only water and transport—and to increase the weight of the investment climate and financial facilities categories. Two new indicators were also added to the index: a "Subnational adjustment factor" and a "Political will" indicator.

The definitions, themes and sector focus for the Infrascope were developed in collaboration with a group of regional and sector experts. This group comprised country specialists and stakeholders (policymakers, lawyers, consultants and development bank staff), as well as regional and international PPP experts. The group validated the category weightings, and the EIU worked with independent regional and country experts to make region-specific adjustments to indicators.

The World Bank, European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) and Asian Development Bank have undertaken regional Infrascopes for Africa, Eastern Europe and Asia respectively, based on the methodology developed by the EIU and MIF for Latin America.

Differentiating between private participation and private partnerships

This study distinguishes between PPPs and the many other forms of private participation. For the purposes of the Infrascope, the term "PPP" refers specifically to projects that involve a long-term contract between a public-sector body and a private-sector entity for the design, construction (or upgrading), operation and maintenance of public infrastructure. Finance is usually provided by the private-sector entity, to which significant construction, operation and maintenance risks are

transferred. This entity also bears either availability or demand risk. However, the public-sector body remains responsible for policy oversight and regulation, and the infrastructure generally reverts to public-sector control at the end of the contract term.

Owing to the specific definition of PPP used in this study, indicators related to institutional design, experience and capacity largely exclude a country's experience with divestitures and management and lease contracts. Countries with management and lease or privatisation experience will fare slightly better than those without, but extensive experience in either of these two areas is not taken as automatically transferrable to the implementation of PPPs. In keeping with this, project figures taken from the World Bank's Private Participation in Infrastructure database include only concessions and greenfield projects. A narrow focus is applied because these more complex PPPs typically fall under different legislation than divestitures, and a separate task force and more complex interaction between public and private partners are required. For example, whereas privatisations enable the public sector to receive money in exchange for selling assets and are relatively simple to implement, in PPPs the government and/or users pay money for the asset or service. This imposes stronger financial constraints on the public sector, rendering financing more complex, and also risky. These elements are further enhanced by the fact that PPP contracts must follow a life-cycle approach to overseeing quality and service standards over a long period of time, after which the asset returns to the public sector.

Breaking down the components of the PPP value chain

The categories that make up the overall index pinpoint crucial aspects of the PPP value chain, starting at the conception of the project and spanning contract design, enforcement, supervision, termination and financing. Specifically, the index evaluates readiness and capacity by dividing the PPP project life cycle into five components: 1) a country's *legal and regulatory framework* for concession projects; 2) the design and responsibilities of institutions that prepare, award and oversee projects (*institutional framework*); 3) the government's ability to uphold laws and regulations for concessions, as well as the number and success rate of past projects (*operational maturity*); 4) the business, political and social environment for investment (*investment climate*); and 5) the *financial facilities* for funding infrastructure.

In addition, to recognise the significance of activity occurring at the regional level, a stand-alone sixth category and indicator for subnational PPPs was added in 2010 (subnational adjustment factor).

How do we define PPPs?

In the electricity-generation sector, we consider as PPPs either Build-Operate-Transfer (BOT) or Build-Own-Operate (BOO) schemes with long-term contracts or power-purchase agreements (PPAs) with public or private distribution companies or integrated state electricity companies. Even though the power plant does not revert to the state and remains private property, we consider both BOO and these long-term contracts to be PPPs, as they differ from the integrated public utility with rate-of-return regulation.

In the water sector, our analysis includes as PPPs private-sector investments via BOT and BOO

schemes with incentive price regulation. Examples include water treatment and fresh water provision or fully integrated water utilities, either under a long-term contract or periodic rate-setting, as long as this rate-setting promotes efficient provision.

Unbundling projects: when is it still a PPP?

Unbundling PPP projects has become increasingly important to generate value for money. Bundling investment, financing, construction, operation and maintenance has the potential to reduce a project's value for money by affecting competition. Such complex projects frequently require firms to form consortia to complete them, a process that can lead to significant transaction costs. In addition, private financing can be more expensive than public financing. Our minimum standard for PPPs requires the private sector to take responsibility for operation and maintenance, and to face significant demand risk. At the other end of the spectrum, we exclude fully privatised and integrated utilities with rate-of-return regulation. With these limits in mind, we consider the following cases to be PPPs: when the government undertakes a project with minor initial investment and financial requirements but transfers operation, maintenance and demand risk to the private sector; when the government builds and finances a project and later transfers operation, maintenance and significant commercial risk to the private sector; and when the government provides debt financing, while the private sector contributes equity and constructs, operates and maintains the project, assuming significant demand risk. However, we exclude lease contracts from our definition of PPPs, because they are essentially financing operations in which commercial and operational risks remain with the state.

Definition of the water, transport and energy sectors in the study

Water/sanitation refers to drinking water and sanitation projects. Transport refers to sea ports, airports, roads and highways and rail. Energy refers to energy generation, specifically electricity generation. Energy extraction is not covered. The key element here is to evaluate the environment for competitive, private electricity-generation investment via concessions, which could be indefinite or fixed-term. Competition could be face-to-face or for the right to service the market.

APPENDIX II: Methodology, sources and detailed indicator definitions

i. Methodology

The methodology for this benchmarking study was created by The Economist Intelligence Unit's research team in consultation with the Multilateral Investment Fund, regional sector experts at the Inter-American Development Bank and the World Bank, and a wider group of sector stakeholders. The original indicator list and research focus was conceptualised at a workshop attended by international and regional sector experts and practitioners in late December 2008. The final index design was also influenced by previous frameworks developed by The Economist Intelligence Unit, the World Economic Forum and the United Nations Development Programme. This indicator list was again revised in early 2010 after extensive peer review, with an eye to maintaining consistency across years as much as possible, while increasing index rigour, relevance and global applicability.

ii. Sources

The Economist Intelligence Unit's research team gathered data for the index from the following sources:

- Interviews and/or questionnaires from sector experts, consultants and government officials
- Legal and regulatory texts
- Economist Intelligence Unit country risk ratings and country reports
- Scholarly studies
- Websites of government authorities
- Local and international news media reports
- The World Bank's Private Participation in Infrastructure database
- Transparency International

Over 60 in-depth interviews were conducted with policymakers and legal and country infrastructure experts from multilateral consulting institutions and the private sector.

iii. Calculating the index

a) Scoring

All qualitative indicators have been scored on an integer scale. This scale ranges from 0–4 or 0–3 scores depending on the definitions and scoring scheme formulated for each indicator. Scores are assigned by the research managers and The Economist Intelligence Unit's team of country analysts according to the

scoring criteria. The integer scores are then transformed to a 0-100 score to make them comparable with the quantitative indicators in the index.

b) Normalisation

Indicator scores are normalised and then aggregated across categories to enable a comparison of broader concepts across countries. Normalisation rebases the raw indicator data to a common unit so that it can be aggregated. The three indicators of quantitative data where a higher value indicates greater experience with concessions, a better business climate or a better political environment have been normalised on the basis of:

x = (x - Min(x)) / (Max(x) - Min(x))

where Min(x) and Max(x) are, respectively, the lowest and highest values in the 19 countries for any given indicator. The normalised value is then transformed from a 0–1 value to a 0–100 score to make it directly comparable with other indicators.

This in effect means that the country with the highest raw data value will score 100, while the lowest will score 0.

c) Weighting the index

At the conclusion of the indicator scoring and normalisation, The Economist Intelligence Unit selected a series of default weightings deemed appropriate for the overall index calculation (see table below). These weightings are not meant to represent a final judgment on relative indicator importance. These may be changed by users at will.

Modelling and weighting the indicators and categories in the index results in scores of 0-100 for each country, where 100 represents the highest quality and performance, and 0 the lowest. The 19 countries assessed can then be ranked according to these scores.

Table 1: Weights	
MAIN CATEGORIES	Weight %
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	25.0%
2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	20.0%
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	15.0%
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	15.0%
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	15.0%
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	10.0%
INDICATORS	Weight %
1) REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	
1.1) Consistency and quality of PPP regulations	37.50%
1.2) Effective PPP selection and decision-making	25.00%
1.3) Fairness/openness of bids, contract changes	12.50%
1.4) Dispute-resolution mechanisms	25.00%

Table 1: Weights (continued) 2) INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	
2.1) Quality of institutional design	66.67%
2.2) PPP contract, hold-up and expropriation risk	33.33%
3) OPERATIONAL MATURITY	
3.1) Public capacity to plan and oversee PPPs	25.00%
3.2) Methods and criteria for awarding projects	12.50%
3.3) Regulators' risk-allocation record	12.50%
3.4) Experience in PPP projects (concessions)	25.00%
3.5) Quality of PPP projects (concessions)	25.00%
4) INVESTMENT CLIMATE	
4.1) Political distortion	25.00%
4.2) Business environment	25.00%
4.3) Political will	50.00%
5) FINANCIAL FACILITIES	
5.1) Government payment risk	22.22%
5.2) Capital market: private infrastructure finance	44.44%
5.3) Marketable debt	22.22%
5.4) Government support and affordability for low-income users	11.11%
6) SUBNATIONAL ADJUSTMENT	
6.1) Subnational adjustment factor	100.00%

iv. Detailed indicator definitions

1. Legal and regulatory framework

(1.1) Consistency and quality of PPP regulations: "How consistent are PPP laws and regulations for national-level PPP projects? Do regulations establish clear requirements and oversight mechanisms for project implementation (project preparation, bidding, contract awards, construction and operation)? Must risk be allocated to different parties according to ability to manage them? Is there a clear system for compensating the private sector for acts of authority that change sector-specific economic conditions not foreseen during bidding?" Also considers whether regulations avoid open-ended compensation rights for changes in financial equilibrium, so that the state only assumes explicitly written commercial contractual contingent liabilities.

Scoring:

0=The legal framework is so cumbersome or restrictive that in practice national-level concessions are extremely difficult to implement;

1=The legal framework allows national-level concessions, but it is ill-defined and risk allocation and compensation are unclear and inefficient;

2=The legal framework allows national-level concessions and also establishes general, open-ended oversight, risk allocation and compensation rules;

3=The legal framework is generally good and coherent, addressing risk-allocation issues while leaving some ambiguity with regard to compensation schemes and project implementation; 4=The legal framework is comprehensive and consistent across sectors and layers of government, addresses risk allocation and compensation issues according to strict economic principles and establishes sophisticated and consistent oversight of project implementation.

(1.2) Effective PPP selection and decision-making: "Do regulations establish efficient planning frameworks and proper accounting of contingent liabilities? Have regulators determined appropriate project planning and cost-benefit analysis techniques to ensure that a PPP is the optimal project-financing and service-provision option? Does the Budget Office systematically measure contingent contractual liabilities and account for delayed investment payments in a way consistent with public investment accounting?"

Scoring:

0=Decision-making processes are not defined—they are erratic and subject to change, without accounting for liabilities;

1=Decision-making processes are defined but are only occasionally followed, and accounting for liabilities is not well established;

2=Decision-making processes are defined and upheld, but accounting practices are not adequate; 3=Proper decision-making is both defined and used for PPP project decisions, although accounting for liabilities should be improved for more consistent decisions;

4=PPP project selection is a consistent result of various efficiency, cost-benefit and socialevaluation considerations required by law and accompanied by rigorous accounting practices.

(1.3) Fairness/openness of bids and contract changes: "Do regulations for national-level concession projects unfairly favour certain project bidders and operators over others? Do regulations require and establish competitive bidding (that is, use of objective criteria during the selection process, requiring the publishing of necessary bidding documents, contracts and changes in contracts)? Do regulations require bidding for any significant, additional work necessary? Is a system established for independent oversight of such renegotiation procedures and conditions?"

Scoring:

0=Regulations unfairly favour certain bidders over others, transparency requirements are not in place and contracts are changed in a discretionary manner;

1=Regulations introduce some bias towards particular parties, and bidding, transparency and renegotiation schemes are poor;

2=Project bidding is fair and transparent, but renegotiations and expansions are poorly regulated; 3=Regulations generally define a fair playing field, with consideration for contract expansion, renegotiation and adjustments;

4=Regulations establish fair and transparent bidding procedures, set limits to renegotiations and adjustments and require independent oversight of post-award procedures.

(1.4) **Dispute-resolution mechanisms:** "Are there fair and transparent mechanisms for resolving controversies between the state and the operator? Does the law provide technically adequate and efficient conciliation schemes? Must arbitration rulings proceed according to law and to contracts, without lengthy appeals?"

Scoring:

O=Dispute-resolution systems for PPPs are undefined and insufficient;

1=Dispute-resolution mechanisms exist, but these are not transparent or efficient;

2=Adequate dispute-resolution mechanisms exist, but arbitration and appeals are lengthy and complex;

3=Comprehensive, effective dispute-resolution mechanisms exist, incorporating necessary technical considerations;

4=Effective and efficient dispute-resolution mechanisms establish independent arbitration according to law and contracts, without lengthy appeals and with accompanying viable prejudicial reconciliation options.

2. Institutional framework

(2.1) Quality of institutional design: This indicator evaluates the existence and role of various agencies necessary for proper project oversight and planning at the federal level, such as a PPP board at ministerial level, a State Contracting Agency and a PPP Advisory Agency and a Regulatory Agency for the enforcement of project standards. It also considers the oversight role and involvement of government budget and planning offices.

Scoring:

O=PPP-specific agencies or boards do not exist, and relevant institutions in this sector lack accountability and independence from rent-seekers;

1=Some oversight and checks and balances exist, but these are not comprehensive, and agencies are highly prone to political distortion;

2=Agencies exist and are fairly technical in nature, but do not play all necessary roles for comprehensive sectoral oversight;

3=The necessary agencies exist and generally fill all necessary roles for sector oversight, although their structure and roles could be improved;

4=The institutional design establishes satisfactory oversight and planning agencies, and incorporates checks and balances so as to ensure effective planning, regulation and increased accountability.

(2.2) PPP contract, hold-up and expropriation risk: "Does the judiciary enforce property rights and arbitration rulings? Does the judiciary uphold contracts related to cost recovery? Can investors appeal against rulings by regulators, expedite contract transfer for project exit and obtain fair compensation for early termination?" Also considers whether the state has an expedite mechanism for replacing failed operators to protect creditors' rights.

Scoring:

0=The judiciary is a poor enforcer of private operator and investor rights and arbitration rulings, and there is no effective appeals process;

1=The judiciary occasionally upholds PPP operator and investor rights and arbitration rulings, but in an inefficient manner;

2=The judiciary usually upholds contracts, PPP operator and investor rights and arbitration rulings, but hold-ups are common;

3=The judiciary consistently and effectively upholds contracts and allows for appeals to the regulator for rulings; it ensures fair compensation for early termination and transfer of contracts, although delays occur and can generate hold-up risk;

4=The judiciary effectively enforces PPP operator and investor rights and arbitration rulings, allowing for expedited contract transfers and ensuring that early termination occurs only in exceptional public-interest circumstances, with fair compensation to the operator and protection to creditors.

3. Operational maturity

(3.1) Public capacity to plan and oversee PPPs: "Are the public capabilities robust for planning, design/engineering, environmental assessment, oversight of national-level project service standards and conflict resolution? And do government officials have expertise in project financing, risk evaluation and contract design? Do financial authorities employ proper accounting practices when considering fiscal and contingent liabilities? Do they have a reputation for designing contracts that reduce post-bid opportunism?"

Scoring:

0=Federal agencies do not have any necessary expertise or experience;
1=Federal agencies have very limited project expertise and experience;
2=Federal agencies have some project planning, design and financing expertise or experience and oversee service quality to a limited extent;

3=Federal agencies generally have the necessary comprehensive project planning, design and financing expertise and experience, exhibiting moderate service quality oversight capacity; 4=Federal agencies have the necessary expertise and experience and effectively regulate the sector on a consistent basis.

(3.2) Methods and criteria for awarding projects: "What is the track record of federal agencies for using competitive bidding and objective economic factors as the primary consideration in final project and contract awards? Are incentive-efficient schemes used for allocating projects (for example, in toll-road projects, using net present value of revenue with contract periods of variable length)?"

Scoring:

0=The granting agency awards projects based on subjective considerations and does not use objective, economic variables;

1=The granting agency has a poor track record, but does consider economic factors with some limits to discretion;

2=The regulator considers economic criteria to award projects, although these are not always the most efficient and appropriate ones, and subjective factors still play an important role;

3=The regulator has a good track record that could be improved (that is, it uses economic variables, but does not give these priority over other factors);

4=The regulator has an excellent track record and uses economic criteria in an effective, transparent and consistent manner.

(3.3) Regulators' risk-allocation record: "Has the allocation of risk between the state and the private sector been successful for national-level projects in recent years? How effective has the use of guarantees and performance bonds been for project-risk diversification?"

Scoring:

0=Risk allocation is often handled inappropriately;

1=Risk has been allocated properly only on certain occasions, as evidenced by a high incidence of contract renegotiation, and hedging and insurance instruments have been minimally used; 2=Risk is usually distributed fairly between the state and the operator, but renegotiations are still common and financial instruments, such as insurance, guarantees and performance bonds, are occasionally used;

3=Risk has been fairly distributed, renegotiations have been moderate, and parties employ some financial risk-hedging practices;

4=Risk has been consistently allocated correctly between the state and the private sector to minimise renegotiations, with extensive and effective use of financial instruments.

(3.4) Experience with transport, water and electricity projects: This indicator draws on information from the World Bank's Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) database on the number of concession projects that reached financial closure in the past ten years and observations made by researchers in-country.

Scoring:

0=No evidence of projects in the market; 1=Evidence of a handful of projects in the market; 2=Approximately under 100 projects in the market; 3=Between 100 and 250 projects in market; 4=More than 250 projects in the market.

(3.5) Quality of transport, water and electricity projects: This indicator draws on the distress and failure rates of transport, water and electricity concession projects over the past ten years from the World Bank's PPI database and observations made by researchers in-country.

Scoring:

0=Evidence of retreat of PPPs or nationalisation; 1=Likely high risk of distress; 2=Likely moderate risk of distress; 3=Likely low risk of distress; 4=Very rare cases of distress.

4. Investment climate

(4.1) Political distortion: Evaluates the level of political distortion affecting the country's private sector. Each country's score is a weighted average of The Economist Intelligence Unit's political stability and government policy effectiveness risk scores and the Transparency International Corruption Perceptions Index. Scores range from 0 to 100, where 0=worst and 100=best.

(4.2) Business environment: Evaluates the quality of the general business environment for infrastructure projects. Each country's score is a weighted average of The Economist Intelligence Unit's market opportunities and macroeconomic risk scores. Scores range from 0 to 100, where 0=worst and 100=best.

(4.3) Political will: This indicator evaluates the level of political consensus, or will, to engage private parties in concessions (PPPs) and to provide favourable implementation frameworks across the electricity industry and water/sanitation and transport sectors.

© The Economist Intelligence Unit Limited 2015

Scoring:

0=The government has consistently shown a lack of interest or inconsistent intentions in engaging private participation through concessions or improving frameworks; conditions for private investment are hostile;

1=The government has shown some reluctance to engage private participation through concessions (PPPs) and provide favourable frameworks, either because of disagreement among or explicit opposition from significant political groupings;

2=There is political consensus surrounding the need to engage private participation through concessions (PPPs) and provide favourable frameworks, although implementation is slow; 3=There is political consensus to maintain favourable frameworks and to be proactive with concession projects where appropriate, and the likelihood of major political delays is low.

5. Financial facilities

(5.1) Government payment risk: "Does the government regularly fulfil obligations for PPP contracts or use liquidity-guarantee schemes to reduce non-payment risk?" Also considers The Economist Intelligence Unit's sovereign debt risk ratings.

Scoring:

0=The government struggles to fulfil obligations to concessionaires;

1=The government occasionally fulfils obligations;

2=The government usually fulfils obligations;

3=The government usually fulfils obligations and provides some minimal guarantees to investors; 4=The government has an excellent track record of fulfilling obligations and provides strong guarantees to investors.

Please note: in certain cases where project- or sector-specific information was not obtainable, scoring considers The Economist Intelligence Unit's sovereign debt risk ratings. For these instances, scoring employs the following guidelines: 0=rating of CCC and below, 1=B rating, 2=BB rating, 3=BBB and A rating, and 4=AA or AAA rating

(5.2) Capital market for private infrastructure finance: "How available and reliable are long-term debt instruments for infrastructure financing? Is there a developed insurance and pension market with useful products for infrastructure risk reduction? Are interest-rate or exchange-rate hedging instruments available?"

Scoring:

0=The markets for finance and risk instruments are underdeveloped or non-existent, and only foreign sources provide project funding;

1=The market for local finance is slowly developing, although most finance comes from international sources and risk-hedging instruments are not robust;

2=Some finance and risk instruments exist, although financing still comes mainly from foreign and multilateral organisations;

3=There is a large, reliable domestic market for financing, but risk instruments are still developing in size and complexity;

4=There is a deep, liquid finance market locally, as well as a reliable and large local market for hedging instruments.

(5.3) Marketable debt: "Is there a liquid, deep, local-currency-denominated, fixed-rate, medium-term (five years +) bond market in marketable debt (that is, debt that is traded freely)?"

Scoring:

0=There is no securities market for fixed-rate financing of over one year;

1=There is a government securities market in place, but for short maturities only;

2=The government is fostering a medium-term market;

3=There is a medium-term (five years +) debt market, but only for public-sector (government bond) issuers;

4=There is a medium-term (five years +) debt market for both public- and private-sector issuers.

(5.4) Government support for low-income users and infrastructure affordability: "Does the government provide subsidies that allow low-income users better access to electricity, water and transport services?"

Scoring:

0=The government does not subsidise the water or transport sector, or has done so in an extremely distortionary manner;

1=The government does not subsidise the water or transport sector, or has done so in a moderately distortionary manner;

2=The government occasionally provides subsidies for improved access to water or transport for the poor, but these are infrequent or applied only in certain cases;

3=The government usually provides satisfactory subsidies for low-income users, but this can vary by sector and project;

4=Subsidies are common, reliable and effectively targeted at low-income users.

6. Subnational adjustment

(6.1) Subnational adjustment: This indicator evaluates whether infrastructure concessions can be carried out at a regional, state or municipal level, and the relative success and consistency of these frameworks.

Scoring:

0=The legal framework does not allow regional or municipal entities to concession public works, or in practice the requirements are extremely cumbersome;

1=The legal framework allows regional and municipal entities to concession public works, but technical capacity or political will are lacking;

2=A few successful examples of regional or municipal concessions exist, but capacity and projects at this level across the country are generally weak;

3=A significant concessions programme has been developed at a municipal or regional level, with good implementation capacity and institutional design;

4=An important and diverse (in terms of sectors and locations) concession programme has been developed at the municipal or regional level, and it benefits from a homogeneous framework, good local implementation capacity and institutional design.

Disclaimer: Country research in this report was concluded in January 2015 and may not account for developments since then.

APPENDIX III - Glossary

Act of authority: Unilateral action by the government to change the economic specifications and terms of a contract.

Build-Operate-Own (BOO): The granting of ownership rights to the private-sector partner in perpetuity to develop, finance, build, own, operate and maintain as an asset with no transfer to the public sector.

Build-Operate-Transfer (BOT): Transfer of responsibility for constructing, financing and operating a single facility to a private-sector partner for a fixed period of time.

Collusion risk: The risk that private-sector bidders or operators will create agreements among themselves that do not benefit the sustainability of a project or the government financing portion.

Competitive bidding: The use of objective criteria during the selection process, requiring the publishing of necessary bidding documents, contracts and changes in contracts.

Concession: A right granted from a government to a private-sector actor.

Contingent liabilities: A potential liability on the balance sheet that is dependent on the outcome of future events.

Contract termination: Project facilities are transferred to the government, usually for nil or nominal consideration and up to conditions predefined in the PPP contract.

Cost-benefit analysis: An evaluation of the potential costs and revenues that may be generated if the project is completed.

Design-Build-Finance-Operate (DBFO): Private-sector partners are asked to supply resources for having the project built, and their future revenue streams are usually based on payments made by the public sector or shadow tolls.

Divestiture: Full divestiture, also known as privatisation, occurs when all or substantially all the interests of a government in a utility asset or a sector are transferred to the private sector.

Economic criteria: Criteria for selecting PPP projects based on economic factors, such as the net present value of a project's revenue and the amount of subsidies requested by bidders or payments offered, among others.

Equity arbitration: A more informal arbitration regime, whereby parties attempt to resolve disputes based on fairness and equity considerations rather than using a strict application of the law.

Feasibility study: An analysis of the ability to complete a project successfully, taking into account legal, economic, technological, scheduling and other factors.

Financial or economic equilibrium: An equation that relates costs, revenue and return on investment for private-sector participants. The equilibrium principle is specified in project contracts and makes important assumptions about demand levels, proper service levels, a project's financial stability (including transfer payments to the government) and project investment costs.

Greenfield projects: New construction or the development of new infrastructure.

Hold-up risk: The risk that private-sector actors will lengthen arbitration processes in order to skew outcomes in their favour.

Lease contract: A contract type in which a public entity delegates management of the public service to a private operator. The public entity—the owner of the assets—is responsible for new investments, major repairs, debt service, tariffs and the cost-recovery policy. The private operator is responsible for operating and maintaining the service, billing and the investment needed for the upkeep and renewal of certain existing assets (electro-mechanical), and may also be responsible for the renewal of part of networks. The operator advises the public sector on investments and extensions to achieve. This type of contract is generally concluded for a period of 10–15 years.

Management contract: A contract type where public authorities transfer the responsibility for operating and maintaining the service to a private operator for a period of 3–5 years. A team of managers, seconded by private enterprise, is placed in a leadership position in the public entity to lend support in managing the service. In this type of contract, the contractor has no legal relationship with the consumer. In addition, the operator has no investments to make this remains the responsibility of public authorities.

Public comparator: A method of evaluating PPP projects where the costs of contracting infrastructure projects through full public provision and financing are used as a benchmark to assess the value-formoney benefits offered by PPP alternatives.

Risk allocation: Distribution of proportional risk to the parties in a contract.

Single-source bidding: A contract awarded by way of soliciting and negotiating with one entity.

Technical criteria: Criteria for selecting PPP projects based on engineering, architectural design and technological aspects.

Value-for-money analysis: An analysis that compares the benefits of contracting infrastructure projects through a PPP scheme with the benefits of traditional public-sector procurement and investment.

Bibliography

General bibliography

The Economist Intelligence Unit (EIU), 2014, "Marketable debt score",

- _____. 2015, "2015 Risk Briefing", www.eiu.com
- _____. 2015, "EIU Macroeconomic Risk." [www.eiu.com].
- _____. 2015, "EIU Market Opportunities Forecast." [www.eiu.com].
 - _____. 2015, "Sovereign Debt Risk Ratings." [www.eiu.com].

The World Bank. 2015. "Private Participation in Infrastructure Database." [http://ppi.worldbank. org/].

_____. 2015. "World Development Indicators." [http://data.worldbank.org/data-catalog/world-development-indicators].

The World Economic Forum (WEF). 2014. The 12 Pillars of Competitiveness: Pillar 6 – market goods efficiency." [http://reports.weforum.org/global-competitiveness-report-2014-2015/methodology/].

Transparency International. 2014 "Transparency International Corruption Transparency Index." [http://cpi.transparency.org/cpi2014/results/].

Country-specific sources

ANGOLA

Abrantes, Maria Luísa Perdigão. 2014. "Public-Private Partnerships and Investment Incentives." Paper presented at the Financing the Future: Infrastructure Development in Central Africa conference, 10 March 2014, Yaoundé. [http://www.imf.org/external/np/seminars/eng/2014/CMR/pdf/Abrantes_ENG.pdf].

Abreu Advogados, 2011. "Angolan Desk. Arbitration." [http://www.abreuadvogados.com/xms/files/ AWARE_ANGOLA_vi_final.pdf].

Angola Trade USA. 2015. "Retrospect 2014: Financial Market Marked by Opening of the Stock Exchange and Accounting Association." 3 January. [http://www.angolatradeusa.org/retro-spect-2014-financial-market-marked-by-opening-of-the-stock-exchange-and-accounting-association/].

Angola Trade USA. 2014a. "Transportation Ministry Will Implement Usage of Subsidized Tickets." 10 September. [http://www.angolatradeusa.org/transportation-ministry-will-implement-us-age-of-subsidized-tickets/].

Atlantic Council. 2014b. "Angola's Emerging Capital Markets." 10 April. [http://www.atlanticcouncil.org/events/past-events/angola-s-emerging-capital-markets].

Cabecadas, Alberto Galhardo, Nuno Cabacadas and Miranda Correia Amendoeira. "Lusophone Africa: a new era for infrastructural development." [http://www.mirandalawfirm.com/uploaded-files/74/33/0003374.pdf].

Deloitte. 2014. "Water country profiles." [http://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/global/Documents/Energy-and-Resources/gx-er-waterprofiles-august2014.pdf].

Duarte, Ana, Regina Santos and Elling N Tjonneland. 2014. (CMI) Chr. Michelsen Institute. 2014. "Angola's Lobito Corridor: From reconstruction to development." April. [http://www.cmi.no/publications/file/5120-angolas-lobito-corridor.pdf].

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2015. "Risk Briefing."

Fernandes, Jayr, Leonardo, Claudia, de Miranda, Agostinho Pereira. 2012. "Angola. Getting the Deal Through – Arbitration." [http://www.mirandalawfirm.com/uploadedfiles/20120405_c4ed40.pdf].

GLA-PLMJ. 2011. "Public-private partnerships in Angola". March. [http://www.gla-plmj.com/xms/files/NL_PPP_ing.pdf].

International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2013. "Developing Angola's Capital Markets." June. [http://www.imf.org/external/country/AG0/rr/2013/063013.pdf].

Laxmidas, Shrikesh. 2013. "Angola expects 5 pct deficit in 2014 as it spends to develop non-oil sector." Reuters, 30 October. [http://www.reuters.com/article/2013/10/30/angola-budget-idUSL-5N0IK4DK20131030].

Levy Osorio, Caterina; Pinto Rodrigues, Vanessa. 2014. "Project finance report: Angola." International Financial Law Review, 3 November. [http://www.iflr.com/Article/3396767/2014-Project-finance-report-Angola.html].

Lundgren, Rebecka. 2013. "Oil economy on the front foot." Country risk analysis. Swedish Exports Credit Guarantee Board.

McClelland, Colin. 2013. "Angola Boosts Infrastructure Spend to Attract Investment." Bloomberg Business, 3 October. [http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2013-10-02/angola-boosts-infastructure-spend-to-attract-investment].

Osava, Mario. "Building Angolan-Brazilian Ties on Infrastructure." Inter Press Service News Agency. [http://www.ipsnews.net/2013/01/building-angolan-brazilian-ties-on-infrastructure/].

Out-Law. 2014. "IMF urges Angola to phase out 'regressive' fuel subsidies as economy improves." 12 September. [http://www.out-law.com/en/articles/2014/september/imf-urges-angola-to-phase-out-regressive-fuel-subsidies-as-economy-improves-/].

PricewaterhouseCoopers. "Angola." [https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/transportation-logistics/publications/africa-infrastructure-investment/assets/angola.pdf].

Pouget, Sophie. 2013. "Arbitrating and Mediating Disputes." World Bank Group. [https://www.wbg-investmentclimate.org/advisory-services/international-trade/investment-policy/upload/FDI-Reg-ulations_Arbitrating-and-Mediating-Disputes.pdf].

Transparency International. 2014. "Corruption Perception Index."

US Department of State. 2014. "2014 Investment Climate Statement on Angola." [http://www.state. gov/documents/organization/228974.pdf].

van Welzen, Pieter. 2011. "Public–Private Partnerships in Angola."" Clifford Chance client briefing. 18 April. [http://www.cliffordchance.com/briefings/2011/04/public-private_partnershipsinango-la.html].

World Bank Group, 2014. "Doing Business: Measuring Business Regulations." June. [http://www. doingbusiness.org/data/exploretopics/enforcing-contracts].

World Bank. 2015. World Bank Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Project Database.

World Economic Forum. 2014. "Global Competitiveness report."

CAMEROON

African Development Bank. 2013. "Environnement de l'investissement privé." [http://www.afdb. org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/Project-and-Operations/Cameroun%20-%20Environne-ment%20de%20l%E2%80%99investissement%20priv%C3%A9.pdf].

Agence Ecofin. 2014. "Bolloré rate la concession du terminal à conteneurs du port en eau profonde de Kribi." [http://www.agenceecofin.com/entreprises/2401-17007-bollore-rate-la-concession-du-terminal-a-conteneurs-du-port-en-eau-profonde-de-kribi]. January 2015.

Agence Française de Développement. 2007. "La concession du chemin de fer du Cameroun: paradoxe d'une réussite impopulaire. British High Commission in Yaounde, 2012, The power and energy sector in Cameroon." [https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/237129/Cameroon_Doing_Business_Guides_Pt.1.pdf].

Cameroon Tribune. 2005. "Etat-Aes/Sonel: on relit le contrat." [http://www.cameroon-info.net/ stories/0,16095,@,etat-aes-sonel-on-relit-le-contrat.html].

Cameroon. 2007. "Contrat d'affermage du service public de l'alimentation en eau potable des centres urbains et périurbains du Cameroun."

Cameroon. 2009. "Document de Document de Stratégie pour la Croissance et l'emploi."

Cameroon. 2009. "Vision 2035."

Cameroon. Decree 2008/0115/PM of January 24, 2008, specifying the procedures for the implementation of Law 2006/012. [http://www.ppp-cameroun.cm/uploads/Telechargements/cadre-juridique-des-PPP-recueil-des-textes-fr.pdf].

Cameroon. Decree 2008/035 of January 23, 2008, on the organization and functioning of the Partnership Contract Implementation Support Council. [http://www.ppp-cameroun.cm/uploads/ Telechargements/cadre-juridique-des-PPP-recueil-des-textes-fr.pdf].

Cameroon. Decree 2009/011 of January 13, 2009, appointing the President of the Partnership Contract Implementation Support Council. [http://www.ppp-cameroun.cm/uploads/Telechargements/ cadre-juridique-des-PPP-recueil-des-textes-fr.pdf].

Cameroon. Decree 2012/148 of 2012 to amend and supplement Decree 2008/035. [http://www.ppp-cameroun.cm/uploads/Telechargements/cadre-juridique-des-PPP-recueil-des-textes-fr.pdf].

Cameroon. Law 2006/012 of December 29, 2006, establishing the general partnership contract system. [http://www.ppp-cameroun.cm/uploads/Telechargements/cadre-juridique-des-PPP-recue-il-des-textes-fr.pdf]

Cameroon. Law 2008/009 of July 16, 2008, establishing the tax, financial, and accounting rules

applicable to partnership contracts. [http://www.ppp-cameroun.cm/uploads/Telechargements/cadre-juridique-des-PPP-re-cueil-des-textes-fr.pdf].

Cameroon. Order 069/CAB/PM, 2009, recording the composition of the Steering Committee of the Support Council. [http://www.ppp-cameroun.cm/uploads/Telechargements/cadre-juridique-des-PPP-recueil-des-textes-fr.pdf].

Cameroon. Order 186/CAB/PM, 2011, fixing the rates and conditions for the collection of fees payable for PPPs. [http://www.ppp-cameroun.cm/uploads/Telechargements/cadre-juridique-des-PPP-recueil-des-textes-fr.pdf].

City Official. 2012. Speech of city official for the signature ceremony of two PPPs. [http://www.douala-city.org/newsdocs/114. pdf].

Communauté urbaine de Douala. 2009. "Stratégie de Développement de la Ville de Douala et de Son Aire Métropolitaine."

CONSEIL D'APPUI A LA REALISATION DES CONTRATS DE PARTENARIATS (CARPA). 2013. Communiqué. [http://www.ppp-cameroun.cm/index.php?mact=News,cntnt01,detail,0&cntnt01articleid=17&cntnt]. January 2015.

Dominguez-Torres, Carolina and Vivien Foster. 2011. "Cameroon's infrastructure: a continental perspective."

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2013–14. "Country Reports."

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2014. "Cameroon Country Risk Report, Q4 2014."

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2015. "Risk Briefing."

Global Partnership on Output-Based AID (GPOBA). 2010. "Subsidising water connections in Cameroon." *OBA Approaches note*. Number 34. [http://www.gpoba.org/sites/gpoba/files/OBA%20Cameroon%207-7-10SCREEN.pdf].

International Finance Corporation (IFC). 2012. "Public-Private Partnerships, Stories, Cameroon: Sonel." [http://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/577489804a5b844a93e59f8969adcc27/PPPStories_Cameroon_SONEL.pdf?MOD=AJPERES]

International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2010. "Country report 10/264, Cameroon: Report on the Observance of Standards and Codes— Fiscal Transparency Module." [http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2010/cr10264.pdf].

International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2014a. "Country report 14/213, Cameroon: Selected Issues, July 2014." [http://www.imf. org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2014/cr14213.pdf].

International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2014b. "Cameroon Article IV Consultation, Country report 14/212."

Investir en zone franc. 2014. [http://www.izf.net/pages/gicam].

KPMG. 2013. "Cameroon Country profile 2012/13." [https://www.kpmg.com/Africa/en/KPMG-in-Africa/Documents/Cameroon.pdf]

Le Droit. 2014. "Droit de L'Arbitrage: Les institutions de l'arbitrage au Cameroun et dans l'OHADA." [http://www.journal-ledroit.net/index.php/juris-zoom/1179-droit-de-larbitrage-les-institutions-de-larbitrage-au-cameroun-et-dans-lohada]. Ministère de l'EAU et de l'Energie (MINEE). 2009. "Plan d'action national de gestion integree des ressources en eau." [http://www.minee.cm/index.php?page=arsel&hl=fr_FR].

Ministère de l'Economie, de la Planification et de l'Aménagement du Territoire communique, Le (MINPAT). 2014. "Communication 004/CAB/ du 25/02/2014 relatif a la liste des projets a realiser en partenariat public-prive pour le compte de l'exercice 2014." [http://www.ppp-cameroun.cm/up-loads/Telechargements/liste-des-projets-ppp-2014-fr.pdf].

Proparco. 2011. "What role for the private sector in African railways development?" *Private Sector* & *Development* 9. [http://www.proparco.fr/jahia/webdav/site/proparco/shared/ELEMENTS_COM-MUNS/PROPARCO/Revue%20SPD%20vraie/PDF/SPD9_UK.pdf]. March 2011.

Transparency International. 2014. "Corruption Perception Index."

US Department of State. 2014. "Cameroon Investment Climate." [http://www.state.gov/documents/ organization/227141.pdf].

World Bank. 2011a. "Project information document (PID), Appraisal stage, Cameroon Kribi Gas Power Project, Report No. AB6777."

World Bank. 2011b. "The affermage-lease contract in water supply and sanitation." *PPP Insights*. Volume 1, Issue 2.

World Bank. 2014. "Doing Business in 2015: Cameroon Economy profile." [http://www.doingbusiness.org/data/exploreeconomies/cameroon/~/media/giawb/doing%20business/documents/profiles/country/CMR.pdf?ver=2]. October 2014.

World Bank. 2015a. World Debt Tables. Retrieved through Haver Analytics. January 2015.

World Bank. 2015b. World Bank Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Project Database.

World Bank. World Development Indicators. [Retrieved online at data.worldbank.org].

World Economic Forum. 2014. "Global Competitiveness report."

CÔTE D'IVOIRE

Autorité nationale de régulation des marchés publics (ANRMP). [http://www.anrmp.ci].

Autorité nationale de régulation des marchés publics (ANRMP). 2014. "Audit des marchés de gré à gré, 2011-2013." [http://www.anrmp.ci/audits-26402/rapports-daudit-21121/file/255-rapport-de-l-audit-des-marches-de-gre-a-gre].

Autorité nationale de régulation du secteur de l'électricité (ANARE). [http://www.anare.ci/index. php?id=1].

Bavier, Joe. 2015. "Ivory Coast opens water transport sector to outside investors." Reuters, 4 February. [http://af.reuters.com/article/ivoryCoastNews/idAFL6N0VE4CC20150204].

Bureau national d'études techniques et de développement (BNETD). [http://www.bnetd.ci].

Cabinet du premier ministre. 2013. "Individual note on each priority project – PPP." [http://www.speciamerica.org/en/doc/PPP/PROJETS_PPP.pdf].

Coface. Etudes économiques: Côte d'Ivoire. [http://www.coface.com/fr/Etudes-economiques-et-risque-pays/Cote-d-Ivoire]

Cour commune de justice et d'arbitrage (CCJA). [http://www.ohada.org/ccja.html].

Cour d'arbitrage de la Côte d'Ivoire (CACI). [http://www.caci.ci/index.php].

Diaz, Xavier. 2012. "Un premier PPP en Côte d'Ivoire." L'AGEFI Hebdo, 4 October. [http://www.agefi. fr/articles/un-premier-ppp-en-cote-d-ivoire-1239518.html].

Dion, Olivier. 2015. "Gestion de l'assistance en escale de l'aéroport Félix Houphouët-Boigny: les engagements de la NAS qui ont séduit l'Etat de Côte d'Ivoire." L'Intelligent d'Abidjan, 28 January. [http://news.abidjan.net/h/522630.html].

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2015. "Risk Briefing."

Groupe consultatif Plan National de développement (GC-PND). 2012. "Plan national de développement 2012–2015: Tome IV: Matrices d'actions prioritaires." [http://www.gcpnd.gouv.ci/fichier/ DEF_TOME_IV_MATRICE_FINAL_061012.pdf].

Hermance K.N. 2015. "Transports: le gouvernement casse officiellement le monopole de la Sotra." Soir Info, February 2. [http://www.linfodrome.com/societe-culture/19260-transports-le-gouver-nement-casse-officiellement-le-monopole-de-la-sotra].

InfraPPP. 2013. "Preferred bidder selected for Abidjan second container terminal PPP." 29 March. [http://infrapppworld.com/2013/03/preferred-bidder-selected-for-abidjan-second-container-terminal-ppp.html]. International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2013. "Côte d'Ivoire: Note consultative conjointe des services sur le plan national de développement 2012-15." [http://www.imf.org/external/french/pubs/ft/SCR/2013/cr13173f.pdf].

Jeune Afrique. 2013. "Côte d'Ivoire: Billon se lâche contre Bolloré." 5 June. [http://economie. jeuneafrique.com/regions/afrique-subsaharienne/17714-cote-d-ivoire-billon-se-lache-contre-bollore.html].

Jeune Afrique. 2014. "Côte d'Ivoire: un audit révèle des abus dans la passation des marchés publics." 19 September. [http://economie.jeuneafrique.com/regions/afrique-subsaharienne/23091-cotedivoire-un-audit-revele-des-abus-dans-la-passation-des-marches-publics.html].

Kouadio, Célestin. 2015. "Aéroport d'Abidjan: l'assistance en escale confiée à un opérateur koweitien." Acturoutes, January 18. [http://www.acturoutes.info/page.php?p=1&id=4609]

Lettre du continent. 2013. "Le programme PPP sous contrôle." 22 May.

Mieu, Baudelaire. 2014. "Côte d'Ivoire: le futur train urbain coûtera 1 milliard d'euros." *Jeune Afrique*.

Ministère auprès du premier ministre chargé du budget. 2014. "Manuel de procédure des marchés publics." [https://marchespublics.ci/fr/fichier/doc/nouveau%20manuel%20de%20procedure%20%20dmp.pdf]. 14 April.

Ministère de l'économie et des finances. N.D. "Projet de loi sur les partenariats public-privé." [http://www.fatom.org/reseau/telecharger.php?Fichier_a_telecharger=projet_de_loi_PPP.pdf&chemin=../pdf/].

Ministère de l'économie et des finances. N.D.2. "Liste des projets PPP à présenter." [http://news. abidjan.net/documents/docs/def_Liste%20projets%20PPP%20GC_def.pdf].

Monnier, Olivier. 2014. "Ivory Coast stays with debt plan as buyers with no cash balk." Bloomberg-Business, August 25. [http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2014-08-24/ivory-coast-stays-with-debt-targets-as-buyers-with-no-funds-balk].

Moody's. 2014. "Moody's assigns first-time B1 issuer ratings to Government of Côte d'Ivoire; positive outlook." July 8. [https://www.moodys.com/research/Moodys-assigns-first-time-B1-issuer-ratings-to-Government-of--PR_303459].

Port Finance International. 2013a. "Bolloré and APMT sign concession agreement for Abidjan's second container terminal." 25 June.

Port Finance International. 2013b. "PPP contract signed for Abidjan's second container terminal." 20 December. Abidjan. [http://sodecinet.net/application/themes/exquiso/rapports/campagne_in-stitutionnelle_sodeci_2014.pdf].

Présidence de la République. 2015. "Discours de SEM Alassane Ouattara lors du forum franco-africain pour la croissance partagée." Paris, February 7. [http://www.presidence.ci/actualite/987/discours-du-president-de-la-republique-sem-alassane-ouattara-lors-du-forum-franco-africain-pourla-croissance-partagee-a-paris]

Présidence de la République. 2012a. "Décret No. 2012-1151 du 19 décembre 2012 relatif aux contrats de partenariats public-privé."

Présidence de la République. 2012b. "Décret No. 2012-1152 du 19 décembre 2012 portant attributions, organisation et fonctionnement du cadre institutionnel de pilotage des partenariats public-privé."

Présidence de la République. 2009. "Décret No. 2009-260 du 06 août 2009 portant organisation et fonctionnement de l'Autorité Nationale de Régulation des Marchés Publics." [http://www.anrmp.ci/ decrets-91532/file/204-decret-n-2009-260-du-06-aout-2009-portant-organisation-et-fonctionne-ment-de-l-autorite-nationale-de-regulation-des-marches-publics-anrmp].

SODECI. 2014. "Campagne institutionnelle 2014." Abidjan. [http://sodecinet.net/application/ themes/exquiso/rapports/campagne_institutionnelle_sodeci_2014.pdf].

Stevis, Matina. 2015. "Africa's bond bonanza finds few takers." *Wall Street Journal*, 9 February. [http://www.wsj.com/articles/africas-bond-bonanza-finds-fewer-takers-1423503621].

Transparency International. 2014. "Corruption Perception Index."

World Bank Group. 2014. "2014. Doing Business 2015: Going Beyond Efficiency. Economy Profile 2015: Côte d'Ivoire. [http://www.doingbusiness.org/data/exploreeconomies/~/media/giawb/ doing%20business/documents/profiles/country/CIV.pdf?ver=2]

World Bank. 2015. World Bank Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Project Database.

World Economic Form. 2014. "Global Competitiveness Report."

DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF THE CONGO

African Training and Research Centre in Administration for Development. 2013. [http://www.cafrad. org/Workshops/Rabat10-11_06_13/9_MATENDA_RDC_FORUM_2013.pdf]

Afrique Redaction. 2010. "Partenariat Public-Privé en RDC Olivier Kamitatu plaide pour la mise en œuvre d'un cadre legal". *Bongos Roger*. [http://www.afriqueredaction.com/article-partenariat-pub-lic-prive-en-rdc-olivier-kamitatu-plaide-pour-la-mise-en-oeuvre-d-un-cadre-legal-45618416.html].

Comité du pilotage pour l'amelioration du climat des affaires et des investissemens. 2013. "Rapport mensuel du mois de juin 2013."

Comité de Pilotage de la Réforme des Entreprises du Portfeuille de L'Etat (COIREP). "Projets et programmes exécutés par le COPIREP." [http://www.copirep.cd/index.php/projets-et-programmes/152-le-copirep-execute-simultanement-plusieurs-projets-et-programmes].

Comité de Pilotage de la Réforme des Entreprises du Portfeuille de L'Etat (COPIREP). [http://www. copirep.cd/index.php/a-propos-du-copirep/mission]. February 2015.

Delen, Broederlijk. 2008. "Public private partnerships in the DRC's mining sector: development, good governance and the struggle against corruption?"

East African Chamber of Commerce, Industry and Agriculture. 2014. "Attracting funding of PPPs through an action plan and accompanying guidelines and hand book for advocacy and awareness creation for the management of PPP deals based on business climate assessment and gap analysis." [http://www.enablebusiness4pppseastafrica.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/Draft-Policy-Framework-Report.pdf].

Economist Corporate Network. 2015. "DRC SWOT analysis. First Quantum gets out of Congo with \$1.25 billion asset sale." [http://www.mining.com/first-quantum-gets-out-of-congo-with-1-25-billion-asset-sale/].

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2015. "Risk Briefing."

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2014) "EIU Country credit risk service, Democratic Republic of the Congo." [http://country.eiu.com/FileHandler.ashx?issue_id=1412566125&mode=pdf].

Financial Times. 2014. "Congo renews push for Grand Inga dam, an African white elephant." [http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/207ac48c-34ef-11e4-aa47-00144feabdc0.html#slide0].

Foster, Vivien and Daniel Alberto Benitez. 2011. "The Democratic Republic of Congo's Infrastructure: a continental perspective." [https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/3367/WPS5602.pdf?sequence=1]

International Centre for Settlements of Investment Disputes (ICSID). List of Signatory and Con-

tracting States. [https://icsid.worldbank.org/apps/ICSIDWEB/about/Pages/Database-of-Member-States.bak.aspx].

International Monetary Fund. 2014. "Financial Sector Stability Assessment." [http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2014/cr14315.pdf].

Ministere de l'Interieur. 2013. "Securite, Decentralisation et Affaires Coutumieres, La Decentralisation en bref."

Ministere du Portefeuille. 2014. "La Politique du gouvernement en matiere de partenariat public-prive dans le secteur du portefeuille de l'Etat: cadre general." [http://www.google.co.uk/ url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=web&cd=15&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CEcQFjAEO-Ao&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.mines-rdc.cd%2Ffr%2Fdocuments%2FExpose_min_portefeuille. rtf&ei=uim5VN0jD43oaLLVgbgJ&usg=AFQjCNFCnR0c-J7UTmHX0ZV7xToTTB02mA&sig2=17FAGf2ryX-E2GU3wFkNiQ].

Miranda Law Firm. Legal News. May 2014. [http://www.mirandalawfirm.com/uploaded-files/20140821_a87395.pdf].

Natural Resource Governance Institute. "Resource Governance Index, Democratic Republic of Congo." [http://www.resourcegovernance.org/countries/africa/drc/overview]

New York Arbitration Convention. [http://www.newyorkconvention.org/news/democratic-republic-of-the-congo-to-accede-to-new-york-convention].

Office of the Prime Minister of DRC. [https://www.primature.cd/public/].

PR Newswire. 2013. "The Democratic Republic of the Congo Fixes October 2015 as the Date for the Launch of the First Phase of the Largest Hydroelectric Plant in the World." [http://www.prnewswire. com/news-releases/the-democratic-republic-of-the-congo-fixes-october-2015-as-the-date-for-the-launch-of-the-first-phase-of-the-largest-hydroelectric-plant-in-the-world-208008181.html]

Public-Private Infrastructure Advisory Facility. 2010. [http://www.ppiaf.org/sites/ppiaf.org/files/ images/ImpSt-postconflict-fin.pdf].

RTI International. "Improving Governance in the Democratic Republic of Congo." [http://www.rti. org/page.cfm?obj=EF6BEE28-5056-B100-0CA05BA7BCC3AD9B].

Transparency International. 2014. "Corruption Perception Index."

United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). 2011. "Problematique de l'eau en Republique Democratique du Congo: defis et opportunites, Rapport Technique, 2011." [http://postconflict.unep. ch/publications/UNEP_DRC_water_FR.pdf]

US Department of State. 2014. "2014 Investment Climate Statement." [http://www.state.gov/documents/organization/227344.pdf].

© The Economist Intelligence Unit Limited 2015

Wapol, Upio Kakura. 2014. "A new legal framework to promote the public-private partnership in the Democratic Republic of Congo." [http://www.cabemery.org/2014/04/29/a-new-legal-frame-work-to-promote-the-public-private-partnership-in-the-democratic-republic-of-the-congo/#. VLAKE3spqT0].

World Bank. 2015. "2015 Doing Business Report, DRC." [http://www.doingbusiness.org/reports/ global-reports/~/media/giawb/doing%20business/documents/profiles/country/ZAR.pdf]

World Bank. 2014. "Inga-3 Basse Chute and Mid-size Hydropower Development Technical Assistance Project." [http://www.worldbank.org/en/country/drc/brief/inga-3-basse-chute-and-mid-size-hy-dropower-development-technical-assistance-project].

World Bank. 2012. "Public-Private Partnership in Telecommunications Infrastructure Projects: case of the Democratic Republic of Congo." [http://www-wds.worldbank.org/external/de-fault/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2012/05/22/000426104_20120522113730/Rendered/PD-F/687010ESW0P1220f0Dem.0Rep.0of0Congo.pdf]

World Bank. 2015. World Bank Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Project Database.

World Economic Forum. 2014. "World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Report 2014"

EGYPT

Abouleinen, El-Laithy and Kheir-El-Din. 2009. "The Impact of Phasing Out Subsidies of Petroleum Energy Products in Egypt." ECES Working Paper 145.

Adel, Mohamed. 2014. "Government hopes to pay full debts owed to foreign partners over coming 6 months." [http://www.dailynewsegypt.com/2014/11/25/government-hopes-pay-full-debts-owed-foreign-partners-coming-6-months/]

Ahram Online. (2014). "First price hike on water bills for Egyptian households in nearly a decade." [http://english.ahram.org.eg/NewsContent/3/12/100283/Business/Economy/First-price-hike-on-water-bills-for-Egyptian-house.aspx].

Al Amly, Yousef Mohamed. 2012. "Political Risk Allocation in Egyptian PPP Projects." LLM Thesis, Indiana University. [http://works.bepress.com/yousef_alamly/1]

Alsahary, Ibrahim. 2014. "Egypt plans three PPP desalination projects." MEED. [http://www.meed. com/sectors/water/wastewater/egypt-plans-three-ppp-desalination-projects/3197496.article].

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2015. "Risk Briefing."

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2014. "Sovereign Risk Rating, Egypt."

Egypt. 2011. "Executive regulations for the law regulating Partnerships with the Private Sector, issued through Prime Ministerial Decree No. 238." [http://www.pppcentralunit.mof.gov.eg/SiteCollectionDocuments/PPPCUSite/News/Executive_Regulations_en.pdf]

Egypt. 2010. Law no. 67. [http://www.pppcentralunit.mof.gov.eg/Content/Legislation/Documents/ LawNo67fortheyear2010.pdf].

Eldin, Mohammed Alaa. 2014. "Proposal of mega information technology projects using PPP technology to revive market." Daily News Egypt. [http://www.dailynewsegypt.com/2014/12/22/proposal-mega-information-technology-projects-using-ppp-technology-revive-market/].

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (ERBD). 2011. "Egypt: Assessment of The Quality of The PPP Legislation and of The Effectiveness of its Implementation." [http://www.ebrd.com/ downloads/legal/concessions/egypt.pdf].

Galeel, Abdel Hameed Galal. 2012. "Highlights on Public Private Partnership in Egypt." Lex Arabiae: Legal News of the Gulf, Vol. XVI – 4th issue. Meyer-Reumann & Partners. [http://lexarabiae.meyer-reumann.com/wp-content/uploads/2012-04.pdf].

Guerin, Orla. 2015. "Egypt seeks to build confidence with second Suez Canal." BBC News. [http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-middle-east-30895545]

Hauslohner, Abigail. 2014. "Egypt's military expands its control of the country's economy." The Washington Post. [http://www.washingtonpost.com/world/middle_east/egyptian-military-expands-its-economic-control/2014/03/16/39508b52-a554-11e3-b865-38b254d92063_story.html]

Hussein, Marwa. 2012. "Egypt opens door for private sector investment in infrastructure." Reuters. [http://english.ahram.org.eg/NewsContent/3/12/34721/Business/Economy/Egypt-opens-door-for-private-sector-investment-in-.aspx]

International Finance Corporation (IFC). 2014. "PPPs in the Water and Sanitation Sector." [http:// www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/ceci/documents/2014/water_and_sanitation_October/Egypt_ New_Cairo_wastewater_project.pdf].

International Institute for Sustainable Development. 2014. "First price hike on water bills for Egyptian households in nearly a decade." [http://english.ahram.org.eg/NewsContent/3/12/100283/Business/Economy/First-price-hike-on-water-bills-for-Egyptian-house.aspx].

International Monetary Fund (2014). 2014. "Regional Economic Outlook: Middle East and Central Asia."

Ismail, Mohamed AM. 2013. "Globalization and New International Public Works Agreements in Developing Countries: An Analytical Perspective."

Ismail, Mohamed AM. 2011. "International Infrastructure Agreements and PPPs in Developing Countries." *European Procurement & Public Private Partnership Law Review*, Vol. 3.

Kingsley, Patrick. 2014. "Worse than the dictators." *The Guardian*. [http://www.theguardian.com/world/2014/dec/26/sp-egypt-pillars-of-freedom-crashing-down].

Loayza, Norman V. and Rei Odawara. 2013. "Infrastructure and Economic Growth in Egypt." World Bank. [http://www.imf.org/external/np/seminars/eng/2013/fiscalpolicy/pdf/loayza.pdf].

MEED. 2014. "MENA industry report: Egypt puts infrastructure at the top of the agenda." [https://globalconnections.hsbc.com/uae/en/articles/egypt-puts-infrastructure-top-agenda].

MENA-OECD Investment Programme. 2014. "Business Climate Review of Egypt: Investment Policies and Public–Private Partnerships."

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2010. "Business Climate Development Strategy: Phase 1 Policy Assessment: Egypt: Dimension I-2: Privatisation Policy and Public Private Partnerships."

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2014. "Private Sector Development: Project Insights." Salah-Ahmed, Amira, and , Amany Ali Shawky. 2014. "Egyptians brace for broad price hikes after fuel subsidy cuts." Mada Masr. [http://www.madamasr.com/news/economy/egyptians-brace-broad-price-hikes-after-fuel-subsidy-cuts].

Transparency International. 2014. "Corruption Perceptions Index."

World Bank. 2005. "Cost-effectiveness and equity in Egypt's water sector." [http://www.mof.gov. eg/MOFGallerySource/English/policy-notes/Cost%20Effectiveness%20and%20Equity%20in%20 Egypt's%20Water%20Sector%20-%20May%202005.pdf].

World Bank. 2015. "World Bank Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Project Database."

World Economic Forum. 2014. "World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Report 2014."

GHANA

Abbey, Richard A. 2014. "PPP law expected by close of year." *Business & Financial Times*, 16 June. [http://thebftonline.com/content/ppp-law-expected-close-year].

Ameyaw, C., Mensah, S. and Osei-Tutu, E. 2012. "Public procurement in Ghana: The implementation challenges to the Public Procurement Law 2003 (Act 663)." [http://www.ijcscm.com/sites/default/files/issue/nid-180/ameyawc_1346280928.pdf] *International Journal of Construction Supply Chain Management 2* (2) pp. 55-65.

Andoh, Dominick. 2014a. "Local investors out-muscled in PPPs." *Business & Financial Times*, 22 July. [http://thebftonline.com/content/local-investors-out-muscled-ppps].

Andoh, Dominick. 2014b. "Local capacity lacking for PPPs." *Business & Financial Times*, 15 August. [http://thebftonline.com/content/local-capacity-lacking-ppps].

Andoh, Dominick. 2014c. "Mahama pledges decent returns on PPPs." *Business & Financial Times*, 20 August. [http://thebftonline.com/content/mahama-pledges-decent-returns-ppps]

Cenpower Generation Company Limited. "Powering Ghana's Future: Fast Facts." [http://www.cen-powergen.com/press/cenpower_factsheet.pdf].

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2014. "Ghana: Sovereign Risk." [http://country.eiu.com/ article.aspx?articleid=1691634753&Country=Ghana&topic=Risk&subtopic=Credit+risk&subsubtopic=Sovereign+risk&aid=1&oid=458146230#].

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2015. "Risk Briefing."

Essabra-Mensah, Ekow. 2014. "Government develops capacity to handle PPP projects." Business & Financial Times, March 26. [http://thebftonline.com/content/gov%E2%80%99t-develops-capaci-ty-handle-ppp-projects].

IMANI Ghana. 2014. "Ghana's economy can't afford further subsidies unless..." Citifmonline, 9 July. [http://www.citifmonline.com/2014/07/09/ghanas-economy-cant-afford-further-subsidies-unless-imani/#sthash.DQ2WkzpP.dpbs].

Integrated Social Development Centre (ISODEC). [http://www.isodec.org.gh/articlepage.php?idnews=163]

International Comparative Legal Guides (ICLG). 2014. "Ghana – Litigation & Dispute Resolution 2014." [http://www.iclg.co.uk/practice-areas/litigation-and-dispute-resolution/litigation-and-dispute-resolution-2014/ghana].

International Finance Corporation (IFC). 2013. "Asutusare Water Treatment Plant: Summary of Investment Information." Updated 27 March. [http://ifcext.ifc.org/IFCExt/spiwebsite1.nsf/78e3b-

305216fcdba85257a8b0075079d/9062cbcf30cf532385257b3b0065cc41?opendocument] - Business & Financial Telegraph. 2014. "Government picks advisor for Boankra Port project." July 11. [http://thebftonline.com/content/gov%E2%80%99t-picks-advisor-boankra-port-project]

International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2014. "Ghana: Staff report for the 2014 Article IV consultation – debt sustainability analysis." April 21. [http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2014/cr14129. pdf].

Mensah, Leslie Dwight. 2013. "New tariffs won't rescue utilities—PURC." *Business & Financial Times*, 27 September. [http://thebftonline.com/content/new-tariffs-won%E2%80%99t-rescue-utilities-purc].

Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning (MOFEP). 2014. "Pipeline Projects: Ghana Public Private Partnership (PPP) Programme." [http://www.mofep.gov.gh/sites/default/files/docs/pid/Pipe-line-Projects-Ghana-PPP-11-08-14.pdf].

Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning (MOFEP). 2013. "Ghana Public Private Partnership Bill – Draft, May 2013." [http://www.mofep.gov.gh/sites/default/files/docs/pid/PPP_Law_Draft%20.pdf].

Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning (MOFEP). 2012. "Public Private Partnership Toolkit of Unsolicited Proposal."

Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning (MOFEP). 2011. "National Policy on Public Private Partnerships: Private Participation in Infrastructure and Services for Better Public Services Delivery." [http://www.mofep.gov.gh/sites/default/files/docs/pid/ppp_policy.pdf].

New Patriotic Party (NPP). 2012. "NPP Manifesto Exclusive: Akufo-Addo Offers Transformational Leadership." [http://newpatrioticparty.org/index.php/press/110-press/our-press/164-npp-manifesto-exclusive-akufo-addo-offers-transformational-leadership].

PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) Ghana. 2014. "2014 Ghana Banking Survey: The Future of Banking in Ghana: What's Next?" [http://www.pwc.com/en_GH/gh/assets/pdf/gh-banking-survey-2014.pdf].

PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) Ghana. 2014b. "Growth accelerated: Doing business and investing in Ghana." [http://www.pwc.com/en_GH/gh/assets/pdf/doing-business-in-ghana-2014.pdf]

Shang-Quartey, Leonard. 2014a. "Post-privatisation challenges of public water in Ghana." Transnational Institute. June 23. [http://www.tni.org/article/post-privatisation-challenges-public-water-ghana].

Shang-Quartey, Leonard. 2014b. "Urban water management in Ghana and cycle of wrong policy prescriptions: Improving on the institutional responsiveness of GWCL."

Transparency International. 2014. "Corruption Perceptions Index."

Wodon, Quentin (ed). 2012. "Improving the Targeting of Social Programs in Ghana." [https://open-knowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/13081/9780821395936.pdf?sequence=1]

World Bank. 2012. "Ghana - Public Private Partnership Project (PPP)." [http://documents.world-bank.org/curated/en/2012/02/15908490/ghana-public-private-partnership-project-ppp].

World Bank. 2013. "Ghana's Comprehensive Approach to Public Procurement Reform." [http://www. worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2013/02/04/Ghana-8217-s-Comprehensive-Approach-to-Public-Procurement-Reform].

World Bank Group. 2014. "Economy Profile, Ghana." In *Doing Business 2015: Going Beyond Efficiency*. [http://www.doingbusiness.org/data/exploreeconomies/ghana/~/media/giawb/doing%20busi-ness/documents/profiles/country/GHA.pdf]

World Bank. 2015a. "Ghana - PPP Project: P125595 - Implementation Status Results Report: Sequence 06. Report ISR17342." [http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/2015/01/23191255/ ghana-ghana-ppp-project-p125595-implementation-status-results-report-sequence-06].

World Bank. 2015b. World Bank Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Project Database.

KENYA

East African Chamber of Commerce, Industry and Agriculture. 2014. "Attracting funding of PPPs through an action plan and accompanying guidelines and hand book for advocacy and awareness creation for the management of PPP deals based on business climate assessment and gap analysis." [http://www.enablebusiness4pppseastafrica.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/Draft-Policy-Framework-Report.pdf].

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2015. "Risk Briefing."

Kenya. 2014. The public private partnerships act (No. 15 of 2013)—petition committee guidelines, 2014.

Kenya. 2013. "The Public Private Partnerships Act."

Kenya. 2011. "Policy Statement on Public Private Partnerships."

Transparency International. 2014. "Corruption Perception Index."

World Bank. 2015. World Bank Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Project Database.

World Bank. 2012. "Private Investors to Raise Stake in Financing Kenya's Infrastructure". [http:// www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2012/11/15/private-investors-raise-stake-financing-kenyas-infrastructure].

MOROCCO

Al Aissami, Nouaman, Talby, Hicham, 2013. "Morocco covered bonds project." European Bank for Reconstruction and Development. [http://www.ebrd.com/documents/legal-reform/morocco-cov-ered-bonds-project.pdf]. January 2015

Conseil Economique, Social et Environnemental, 2014. "Projet de loi n°86-12 relative aux contrats de partenariat public-privé". Avis, Saisine n°09/2014. [http://www.ces.ma/Documents/PDF/Saisines/S-9-2014-projet-loi-contrats-de-partenariat-public-prive/Avis-S-9-2014-VF.pdf]. January 2015.

Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia, 2013. "Public-Private Partnership for Infrastructure Development in the Arab Region". United Nations, 19 September. [http://www.escwa.un.org/ information/publications/edit/upload/E_ESCWA_EDGD_13_4_E.pdf]. January 2015.

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2015. "Risk Briefing."

Elmoustaqim, Mohammed, 2012. "Le Partenariat Public Privé: Cadre propice pour le développement du dialogue Public-Privé". Atelier de travail sur le dialogue public-privé, 16-17 April.[ec.europa.eu/enlargement/taiex/dyn/create_speech.jsp?speechID=24466&key=8f039711acc4414a8613eb44a-c6a6788 47955_Mohammed Elmoustaquim_Maroc Partenarait Public Prive]. January 2015.

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, 2013. "Commercial laws of Morocco: an assessment by the EBRD." Office of the general counsel EBRD, May. [http://www.ebrd.com/downloads/ sector/legal/morocco.pdf] January 2015.

European Investment Bank, 2011. "FEMIP – Study on PPP Legal & Financial Frameworks in the Mediterranean Partner Countries, Volume 1 – A Regional Approach", May. [http://www.eib.org/attachments/med/ppp-study-volume-1.pdf] January 2015.

Mezzour, Sonia. 2014. "Morocco Challenges and Public Private Partnerships" National Agency for the Development of Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency (ADEREE), 9 May. [http://www.iccgov.org/ FilePagineStatiche/Files/EVENTS/Conferences/2014/workshop_20140509/Session_2/2014-05-09_ Mezzour.pdf]. January 2015.

Ministère de l'Economie et des Finances, Undated. "Introductory Note: The Public-Private Partnership Bill" Direction des Entreprises Publiques et de la Privatisation. [http://www.sgg.gov. ma/portals/0/AvantProjet/4/NP_Loi_PPP_Ang.pdf]. January 2015.

Ministère de l'Economie et des Finances, Undated. "Projet de Loi Relative au Partenariat Public Privé" Direction des Entreprises Publiques et de la Privatisation. [http://www.sgg.gov.ma/portals/0/ AvantProjet/4/Projet_Loi_PPP_Fr.pdf]. January 2015. Moha, Farida, 2013. "Le partenariat public-privé : un mode de gouvernance qui a le vent en poupe" Le Matin, 29 August. [http://www.lematin.ma/journal/financement_le-partenariat-public-prive-un-mode-de-gouvernance-qui-a-le-vent-en-poupe/186983.html] January 2015.

Tazi, Samir Mohammed, 2013. "Partenariat Public Privé Cadre de développement." Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia, 17 April. [http://css.escwa.org.lb/edgd/2148/p17.pdf] January 2015.

The House of Representatives, the House of Councillors, 2006. "Dahir n° 1-06-15 du 15 moharrem 1427 (14 février 2006) portant promulgation de la loi n° 54-05 relative à la gestion déléguée des services publics.", The Moroccan Parliament, 14 February. http://siteresources.worldbank.org/IN-TINFRANDLAW/Resources/marocloirelativealagestiondeleguee.pdf. February 2015.

Transparency International. 2014. "Corruption Perception Index."

Verme, Paolo, El-Massnaoui, Khalid, Araar Abdelkrim, 2014. "Reforming Subsidies in Morocco" Economic Promise Number 134, The World Bank Group, February. [http://www-wds.worldbank.org/ external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2014/02/06/000333037_20140206144354/Rendered/PDF/845160BRI00Box382123B00PUBLIC00EP134.pdf]. January 2015.

World Bank. 2015. World Bank Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Project Database.

World Bank Group. 1999. "Implementation Completion Report, Kingdom of Morocco, Financial Market Development Loan." Private Sector Development and Finance Department, Middle East and North Africa Region, 9 April. [http://www-wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContent-Server/WDSP/IB/1999/06/04/000094946_99051205332343/Rendered/INDEX/multi_page.txt]. January 2015.

NIGERIA

Ashameri, Idongesit. 2014. "Nigeria: ICRC to Address Impediments to PPP in Nigeria." Allafrica, 15 October. [http://allafrica.com/stories/201410160125.html].

Babtunde, Solomon Olusola, Perera Srinath, Chika Udeaja and Lei Zhou. 2013. "Challenges in Implementing Public-Private Partnership Strategy for Infrastructure Delivery in Nigeria." Paper presented at the Public Private Partnership (PPP) Body of Knowledge (3P Book) International Conference, 18th March 2013, Preston.

Bureau of Public Procurement. 2007. "Public Procurement Act, 2007." [http://www.bpp.gov.ng/ index.php?option=com_joomdoc&view=documents&path=Public_Procurement_Act_2007.pdf&Itemid=614].

Diko, Aminu. 2014. "Establishing Bankable PPP Transactions for Infrastructure Projects." Paper presented at the Business Law Conference, 25–27 May 2014.

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2015. "Risk Briefing."

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2014. "Nigeria sovereign risk rating." [http://country.eiu. com/article.aspx?articleid=1212568105&Country=Nigeria&topic=Risk&subtopic=Credit+risk&sub-subtopic=Sovereign+risk&aid=1&oid=1292635113]

Elebute, Kunle. 2014. "KPMG: PPP model has mixed results within the continent." 16 June 2014. Vanguard newspaper [http://www.vanguardngr.com/2014/06/kpmg-ppp-model-mixed-results-within-continent/].

Essia, Uwem and Yusuf, Abubakar. 2013. "Public-Private-Partnership and Sustainable Development of Infrastructures in Nigeria." *Advances in Management & Applied Economics*. [http://www.scien-press.com/Upload/AMAE/Vol%203_6_8.pdf].

Francis, Ndubuisi. 2014. "Okonjo-Iweala Puts Nigeria's Infrastructure Spending at \$6bn, Wants Faster Processing of PPPs." ThisDay, 4 November. [http://www.thisdaylive.com/articles/okonjo-iweala-puts-nigeria-s-infrastructure-spending-at-6bn-wants-faster-processing-of-ppps/193170/].

Global Construction Review. "Nigeria 'needs to spend \$2.9 trillion' on infrastructure." [http://www.globalconreview.com/news/nigeria-needs-spend-29-trillion-infrastructure/]. 12 February 2014.

Infrastructure Concession Regulatory Commission. 2012a. "The Nigerian Federal Legislative Framework." [http://ppptoolkit.icrc.gov.ng/the-enabling-enviroment-for-ppps/the-nigerian-federal-legislative-framework/].

Infrastructure Concession Regulatory Commission. 2012b. "Nigerian PPP Project Lifecycle." [http://ppptoolkit.icrc.gov.ng/nigerian-ppp-project-lifecycle/phase-i-project-development/].

Infrastructure Concession Regulatory Commission. 2012c. "Developing An Outline Business Case." [http://ppptoolkit.icrc.gov.ng/outline-business-case/developing-an-outline-business-case/#4_2_4_3].

Infrastructure Concession Regulatory Commission. 2012d. "The Competitive Bidding Process." [http://ppptoolkit.icrc.gov.ng/procurement-procedures/the-competitive-bidding-process/].

Infrastructure Concession Regulatory Commission. 2012e. "The Contract Monitoring Framework." [http://ppptoolkit.icrc.gov.ng/contract-management/contract-monitoring-framework/].

Infrastructure Concession Regulatory Commission. 2012f. "Legal Framework for Public-Private Partnerships in Nigeria." 2012. [http://www.dejure.up.ac.za/index.php/volumes/46-vol-3-2013/21volumes/46-volume-3-2013/203-legal-framework-for-public-private-partnership-in-nigeria-].

Infrastructure Concession Regulatory Commission. 2012g. "Public Private Partnership in Nigeria." [http://http://www.icrc.gov.ng/].

Infrastructure Concession Regulatory Commission. 2012h. "The Nigerian Federal Institutional Framework." [http://ppptoolkit.icrc.gov.ng/the-enabling-enviroment-for-ppps/the-nigerian-fed-eral-institutional-framework/].

Infrastructure Concession Regulatory Commission. 2012i. "Frequently Asked Questions." [http://www.icrc.gov.ng/faq.php]

Infrastructure Concession Regulatory Commission. 2008. "National Policy on Public Private Partnership." [http://www.icrc.gov.ng/resources.php].

International Conference, 18 March 2013, Preston. Infrastructure Concession Regulatory Commission. "National Policy on Public Private Partnership and its Supplementary notes." [http://www.icrc. gov.ng/National-PPP-Policy.pdf].

Jemide, Ayuli. 2013. "Emerging Legal and Regulatory Framework For Public Private Partnerships in Nigeria." Paper presented at the CWC Public-Private Partnership Training. 17 November, Abuja.

Mason, Nat. 2009. "Access for the poor and excluded. Tariffs and subsidies for urban water supply." Discussion paper. WaterAid, London, United Kingdom.

Nigeria Sovereign Investment Authority. 2014. "NSIA and Guarantco to Address Nigeria's Infrastructure Deficit Financing." 2 June. [http://nsia.com.ng/nsia-and-guarantco-to-address-nigerias-infrastructure-deficit-financing/].

Norton Rose Fulbright. 2014. "NRFSA assists the Loan Market Association in settling its African loan documents." Financial Institutions Legal Snapshot, 18 August. [http://www.financialinstitutionslegalsnapshot.com/2014/08/nrfsa-assists-the-loan-market-association-in-settling-its-african-loan-documents/].

Obozuwa, Dominic E. "Developing Public Private Partnerships (PPPs) for Infrastructure Development in Nigeria - Fundamentals of the Contract Agreement, Contract Management and Dispute Resolution." [http://www.wali-uwais.com/?page_id=788].

Okeke, Chika. 2014. "Despite N50bn Electricity Subsidy, Nigerians Pay More For Epileptic Service." Leadership newspaper, 29 June. [http://leadership.ng/features/376319/despite-n50bn-electricity-subsidy-nigerians-pay-epileptic-service].

Oyedele, Olufemi. 2012. "Public-Private Partnership (PPP) and Infrastructure Provision in Nigeria." [http://www.researchgate.net/publication/232596373_Public-Private_Partnership_%28PPP%29_ and_Infrastructure_Provision_in_Nigeriaby_Olufemi_A._Oyedele].

Sotinwa, Funke. 2013. "Can Public Private Partnerships Work In Nigeria?" Ventures Africa, 22 September. [http://www.ventures-africa.com/2013/09/can-public-private-partnerships-work-nigeria/]

Soyeju, Olufemi. 2013. "Legal framework for public private partnership in Nigeria." *De Jure Open Access Online Law Journal* 46: 814-832.

Transparency International. 2014. "Corruption Perception Index."

World Bank. (2015). World Bank Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Project Database.

World Bank. 2014. "Doing Business." [http://www.doingbusiness.org/Rankings].

RWANDA

Andrews M., Jefferis K., Hannah R. and Murgatroyd P. 2012. "Rwanda: Financial Sector Development Program II." phttp://www.minecofin.gov.rw/fileadmin/user_upload/Rwanda_FSDP_II_October_11_2012.pdf].

Banerjee S., Wodon Q., and Foster V. 2010. The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank. "Africa's Infrastructure: A Time For Transformation." [http://www.infrastructureafrica.org/system/files/Africa%27s%20Infrastructure%20A%20Time%20for%20Transformation%20CHAPTER%203%20P0VERTY.pdf].

BizClim. 2012. "Reinforcing the Capacities of East Africa to Identify, Develop and Promote PPPs for Infrastructure."

Castalia Strategic Advisors. 2009. "Rwanda Electricity Sector Access Programme. Volume I: Investment Prospectus." [http://ppp.worldbank.org/public-private-partnership/sites/ppp.worldbank. org/files/documents/Prospectus0for1cty0Access0Programme.pdf].

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2015. "Risk Briefing."

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2008. "Country profile - Main Report: Rwanda."

Giugale, Marcelo, Jeffrey Lewis, Saul Lizondo and Christian Mumssen. 2011. "Joint World Bank/IMF Debt Sustainability Analysis." The International Development Association and International Mone-tary Fund. [https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/dsa/pdf/dsacr11164.pdf].

International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID). 2010. "Olyana Holdings LLC v. Republic of Rwanda (ICSID Case No. ARB/10/10)" [https://icsid.worldbank.org/apps/ICSIDWEB/ cases/Pages/casedetail.aspx?caseno=ARB/10/10].

Kigali International Arbitrage Centre. [http://www.kiac.org.rw/spip.php?rubrique19].

Lazarte, Ella, Pierre Boulenger and Nitin Jain. 2011. "Promoting Public-Private Partnerships (PPPs) in Rwanda's Rural Water Supply: Lessons Learned." 6th Rural Water Supply Network Forum 2011 Uganda Rural Water Supply in the 21st Century: Myths of the Past, Visions for the Future. [http://water.worldbank.org/sites/water.worldbank.org/files/publication/WSP_Rwanda-PPP-Short-Paper-RWSN_FINAL.pdf].

Lombard P. 2012. "Strategic Transport Master Plan for Rwanda." Submitted to Rwanda Transport Development Agency. [http://www.rtda.gov.rw/fileadmin/templates/publications/Updated%20 RSTMP%20Final%20Report_combined_2.pdf].

Netherlands Development Organisation. 2009. "Joint Action Development Forum in Rwanda. Experiences and lessons learned." SNV. [http://www.snvworld.org/files/publications/joint_action_development_forum_in_rwanda_-_lessons_learned_and_experiences.pdf]. Nigeria. 2011. LAW N°11/2011 OF 18/05/2011. "Establishing the capital market authority (cma) and determining its mission, powers, organisation and functioning." [http://www.cma.rw/sites/default/files/law%20establishing%20the%20capital%20market%20authority.pdf].

Nkubito, D. 2012. "Rwanda Public Private Dialogue (RPPD) mechanism Status and Progress." *Public Private Dialogue*. [http://www.publicprivatedialogue.org/workshop%202014/Public%20Private%20 Dialogue%20in%20Rwanda.pdf].

Nuwagaba, A. 2013. "Public Private Partnerships (PPPs) and their Effect on Services Delivery in Rwanda." *International Journal of Economics, Finance and Management*. [http://www.ejournalof-business.org/archive/vol2no5/vol2no5_3.pdf].

Public Sector Capacity Building Secretariat website. [http://main.pscbs.gov.rw/node/2].

Remington, Claire. 2013. "Project KivuWatt Generates Electricity from Rwanda's Explosive Lake Kivu." [http://blogs.worldwatch.org/revolt/project-kivuwatt-generates-electricity-from-rwan-das-explosive-lake-kivu-2/].

Republic of Rwanda. 2012. "Strategic Transport Master Plan for Rwanda". Aurecon and Rwanda Transport Development Agency. [.http://www.rtda.gov.rw/fileadmin/templates/publications/Updated%20RSTMP%20Final%20Report_combined_2.pdf].

Republic of Rwanda. 2013. "Economic development and poverty reduction strategy 2013 – 2018." [http://www.minecofin.gov.rw/fileadmin/General/EDPRS_2/EDPRS_2_FINAL1.pdf].

Republic of Rwanda. 2009. "National Public Investment Policy". [http://eastafricanchamber.org/ attachments/article/50/PITT_National_Public_Investment_Policy_17_october1.pdf].

Republic of Rwanda. 2000. "Rwanda Vision 2020." [http://www.minecofin.gov.rw/fileadmin/General/Vision_2020/Vision-2020.pdf]

Rwanda Development Board. [http://www.rdb.rw/about-rwanda/international-relations.html].

Rwangombwa J. 2013, "The Rwanda Experience." Global Economic Symposium. [http://www. global-economic-symposium.org/knowledgebase/the-global-polity/mobilizing-global-capi-tal-for-emerging-infrastructure-needs/proposals/the-rwanda-experience].

Sennoga, Edward B. and Bernis Byamukama. 2014. "African Economic Outlook – Rwanda." [http:// www.africaneconomicoutlook.org/fileadmin/uploads/aeo/2014/PDF/CN_Long_EN/Rwanda_ EN.pdf].

The Global Legal Post. 2014. "International arbitration Africa style." http://www.globallegalpost. com/global-view/international-arbitration-africa-style-82836387/

Transparency International. 2014. "Corruption Perception Index."

Verweij, M. 2013. "Public Private Partnerships in rural water and sanitation." ONGAWA - Spanish International Cooperation for Development Agency. [http://www.ongawa.org/wp-content/up-loads/2013/12/Alianzas-Ruuanda-SNV.pdf]

Viñals, José and Antoinette Sayeh. 2011. "Rwanda: Financial System Stability Assessment". International Monetary Fund, IMF Country Report No. 11/244. [http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/ scr/2011/cr11244.pdf].

World Bank. 2015. World Bank Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Project Database.

World Bank. 2007. "Promotion et la Mise en Place de Partenariats Publics Privés (PPP) pour La Gestion des Systèmes AEP Ruraux : Mission d'Evaluation et de Programmation". [http://www.protos.be/ sites/default/files/library_assets/W_PPP_E23_promotion_mise.pdf].

World Bank Group. "Doing Business" website. [http://www.doingbusiness.org/data/exploreeconomies/rwanda?topic=resolving-insolvency#enforcing-contracts].

SOUTH AFRICA

Accounting Standards Board, South Africa. 2008. "Guideline on Accounting for PPPs."

Eberhadt, Anton, Joel Kolker and James Leigland. 2014. "South Africa's Renewable Energy IPP Procurement Program: Success Factors and Lessons." [http://www.gsb.uct.ac.za/files/PPIAFReport.pdf].

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2015. "Risk Briefing."

Gautrain. 2005. "Gautrain Economic Assessment".

Group Five. 2011. 2011 Management Day presentations.

Infranews. 2007. "All Aboard the Gautrain Express." [http://www.infra-news.com/public/ rss/382823/all-aboard-the-gautrain-express.thtml].

Jooste, Kristy. 2014. "Eskom: Financial problems are leading to selling company stakes." Cape Business News.

Kelman, Steven. 2007. "Discussion Paper on Procurement issues in South Africa that affect Growth and Development." [http://www.treasury.gov.za/publications/other/growth/06-Procurement%20 and%20BEE/01-DISCUSSION%20PAPER%20ON%20PROCUREMENT%20ISSUES%20IN%20SOUTH%20 AFRICA%20TH.pdf].

Miltons Matsemela. Comments on New Expropriation Bill.

National Treasury. 2010. "A Treasury View on South Africa's PPP Programme." [http://digitalknowl-edge.cput.ac.za/jspui/bitstream/11189/1438/3/01_Aiello.pdf].

National Treasury. 2007. "Introducing Public Private Partnerships in South Africa." [http://www.ppp.gov.za/Documents/Final%20Intro%20to%20PPP%20in%20SA%2021%2009%2007.pdf].

National Treasury, South Africa. PPP Manual and Modules released by the PPP Unit. [http://www.ppp.gov.za/Pages/default.aspx].

PPP Unit, National Treasury, South Africa. 2007. "Managing Contingent Liabilities in Public-Private Partnerships. Practice in Australia, Chile and South Africa."

PPP Unit, National Treasury, South Africa. 2007. "Intro to PPP in SA 21 09 07 Support Programme for Accelerated Infrastructure Development."

PPP Unit, National Treasury, South Africa. Website [http://www.ppp.gov.za/Pages/default.aspx].

PPP Unit, National Treasury, South Africa. Public-Private-Partnership Working Group.

Public-Private Infrastructure Advisory Facility (PPIAF). 2009. "Module 5: PPIAF Implementation and

Monitoring – Toolkit for Public-Private Partnerships in Roads and Highways." [www.ppiaf.org].

Road Freight Services. [www.rfa.co.za].

South Africa. 2011a. New Companies Act of 2011.

South Africa. 2011b. Consumer Protection Act of 2011.

South Africa. 2004. Public Finance Management Act (No.1 of 1999 as amended by Act 29 of 1999) to be read with Treasury Regulation 16 issued to the PFMA in 2004.

South Africa. 2003a. Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act No.53 of 2003.

South Africa. 2003b. Municipal Finance Management Act of 2003.

South Africa. 2000. Municipal Services Act (No.32 of 2000).

South African Development Community, PPP Network. "PPP Country Paper South Africa."

South African National Parks. 2013. "Skukuza Airport PPP Agreement." [http://www.sanparks.org/ docs/groups_tenders/2013/ppp_skukuza_airport/ppp-agreement.pdf].

Support Programme for Accelerated Infrastructure Development (SPAID). 2007. "Key Challenges to Public Private Partnerships in South Africa: Summary of Interview Findings." [http://castalia-advisors.com/files/12345.pdf].

Transparency International. 2014. "Corruption Perception Index."

US Department of State. 2014. "Investment Climate Statement of 2014."

World Bank. 2015. World Bank Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Project Database.

TANZANIA

AllAfrica. 2014a. "Call to Intensify PPP Implementation." [http://allafrica.com/stories/201412080768.html OECD Investment Policy Reviews: Tanzania 2013 https://books.google. co.uk/books?id=UpRsAgAAQBAJ&pg=PA190&dq=tanzania+risk+allocation+ppp&hl=en&sa=X-&ei=-f7PVIemIoyP7Aa0hIGYDg&ved=OCCsQ6AEwAA#v=onepage&q=tanzania%20risk%20allocation%20ppp&f=false]

AllAfrica. 2014b. "Public, Private Partnership Bill Tabled in House." [http://allafrica.com/sto-ries/201411190105.html]

AllAfrica. 2014c. "Public-Private Partnership Law 'Bureaucratic'." [http://allafrica.com/sto-ries/201405280247.html].

Bank of Tanzania. 2014. "Financial Stability Report." [https://www.bot-tz.org/Publications/Fin-stability/Financial%20Stability%20Report%20%20Sept%202014.pdf].

BBC News. 2005. "Tanzania ditches private water supplier." [http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/busi-ness/4558725.stm]

Chikoriga, Marcellina and Petro Komba. 2014. "Private Partnerships (PPPs) in the Infrastructure Sector in Tanzania." University of Dar es Salaam Business School. [http://business.uonbi.ac.ke/sites/default/files/chss/business/business/CHIJORIGA%20AND%20KOMBA%20Nairobi%20EFFEC-TIVENESS%200F%20PUBLIC%20PRIVATE%20PARTNERSHIPs%20(PPPs).ppt].

Citizen, The. 2014. "Facts on Independent Power Tanzania Limited deal ahead of the tabling of escrow scam report." [http://asokoinsight.com/news/facts-independent-power-tanzania-limit-ed-deal-ahead-tabling-escrow-scam-report/].

Citizen, The. 2013. "TZ arbitration laws outdated, new statutes a must." [http://www.thecitizen. co.tz/Business/-/1840414/1840792/-/item/1/-/vy1skh/-/index.html].

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2015. "Risk Briefing."

Economist Intelligence Unit, The. 2014. "Tanzania: Country risk service, Ratings Report." [http://www.eiu.com/FileHandler.ashx?issue_id=1672588751&mode=pdf].

InfraPPP. 2013. "Tanzania to tender nine PPP transportation projects." [http://infrapppworld. com/2013/06/tanzania-to-tender-nine-ppp-transportation-projects.html].

Infrastructure news and service delivery. 2014. "Tanzania PPP law to be amended." [http://www. infrastructurene.ws/2014/05/28/tanzania-ppp-law-to-be-amended/].

Kasanda, Peter. 2014a. "Upcoming amendments to Tanzanian PPP laws." Clyde & Co. [http://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=bdaf3c6a-e1de-4106-a519-cb62a078e488

Kasanda, Peter. 2014b. "Public private partnerships in Tanzania: update following the Finance Act 2014." Clyde & Co. [http://www.clydeco.com/uploads/Files/Publications/2014/MEBE_-_020_-_ Public_Private_Partnerships_in_Tanzania_update_following_the_Finance_Act_2013_-_Eng_-_ Jan2014.pdf].

Kasanda, Peter. 2013a. "Public private partnerships in Tanzania: the new regime explained." Clyde & Co. [http://www.blg.co.uk/uploads/Files/Publications/2013/MEBE_-_010_-_Public_Private_Part-nerships_in_Tanzania_the_new_regime_explained_-_Eng_-_Sep2013_2.pdf].

Kasanda, Peter. 2013b. "Recent developments in Tanzania–PPP Operational Guidelines for mainland Tanzania." Clyde & Co. [http://www.clydeco.com/insight/updates/view/recent-developments-in-tanzania-ppp-operational-guidelines-for-mainland-tan].

Kasanda, Peter. 2012. "The Legal Framework Of Public Private Partnerships In Tanzania." Clyde & Co. [http://www.mondaq.com/x/198926/Project+Finance+PPP+PFI/The+Legal+Framework+Of+Pub-lic+Private+Partnerships+In+Tanzania].

Mbeng Mezui, Cédric Achille and Bim Hundal. 2013. "Conditions for Infrastructure Bonds in African Markets." African Development Bank. [http://www.afdb.org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/ Project-and-Operations/Structured_Finance_-_Conditions_for_Infrastructure_Project_Bonds_in_ African_Markets.pdf].

Mboya, John R. 2012. "Tanzania PPP Framework: Lessons for Enabling Environment for PPP Pipelines." Prime Minister's Office. [http://www.theigc.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/Session-8-Rogath-John-Mboya.pdf].

Ministry of Energy and Minerals. 2013. Energy Subsidy Policy. [http://www.tzdpg.or.tz/fileadmin/ documents/dpg_internal/dpg_working_groups_clusters/cluster_1/Energy_and_Minerals/Key_ Documents/Policy/Tanzania_Energy_Subsidy_Policy_Revised_Draft.pdf].

Ministry of Finance. 2014. "Terms of Reference for Consultancy on Public Private Partnerships with Case Study of the Transport Sector." Public Expenditure Review (PER) 2014. [http://www.mof.go.tz/mofdocs/PER/STUDIES/studies%20financial%202014/PPP%20Final.pdf].

Ministry of Finance. 2013. "Terms of Reference for Consultancy on Public Private Partnerships in the Transport Sector." Public Expenditure Review (PER) 2013. [http://www.mof.go.tz/mofdocs/PER/STUDIES/studies%20financial%202013/PER13%20PPP%20Transport%20ToR%20March%2010.pdf].

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2013. "Investment Policy Reviews: Tanzania 2013." [https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=UpRsAgAAQBAJ&pg=PA190&dq=tanzania+risk+allocation+ppp&hl=en&sa=X&ei=-f7PVIemIoyP7Aa0hIGYDg&ved=OCCsQ6AEwAA#v=one-page&q=tanzania%20risk%20allocation%20ppp&f=false]

President's Delivery Bureau. 2014. "Project Funding Opportunities in Tanzania." [http://196.41.61.68/pdb_projects.pdf].

Prime Minister's Office. 2009. "National Public Private Partnership (PPP) Policy." [http://www.tanzania.go.tz/egov_uploads/documents/ppp_policy_sw.pdf].

Tanzania, The United Republic of. 2014. "Special Bill Supplement." [http://www.parliament.go.tz/ assets/uploads/files/cfa8a-A-Bill---PPP-2014-.pdf].

Tanzania, The United Republic of. 2011. "The Public Private Partnership Regulations." [http://pppirc.worldbank.org/public-private-partnership/sites/ppp.worldbank.org/files/documents/Tanzania_ppp_law.pdf].

Tanzania Investment Centre, Prime Minister's Office. "Public-Private Partnerships." [http://www.tic. co.tz/menu/314].

Thompson Reuters. 2013. "Litigation and enforcement in Tanzania: overview." Practical Law. [http://uk.practicallaw.com/0-546-3066?q=Tanzania#a249430].

Transparency International. 2014. "Corruption Perception Index."

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. 2011. "Report on the Implementation of the Investment Policy Review: United Republic of Tanzania." [http://unctad.org/en/Docs/diaep-cb201006_en.pdf].

University College London (UCL). "Private sector participation in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania." [http:// www.ucl.ac.uk/dpu-projects/drivers_urb_change/urb_infrastructure/pdf_public_private_services/W_WaterAid-PRS_Dar_es_Salaam_Tanzania.pdf].

Water World. "Tanzanian Tales: Why PPP Failed to Scale a Mountain of Water Problems." [http://www. waterworld.com/articles/wwi/print/volume-28/issue-1/editorial-focus/public-private-partnerships/tanzanian-tales-why-ppp-failed-to-scale.html].

World Bank. 2015a. "Doing Business 2015." [http://www.doingbusiness.org/~/media/GIAWB/ Doing%20Business/Documents/Annual-Reports/English/DB15-Full-Report.pdf].

World Bank. 2015b. World Bank Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Project Database.

TUNISIA

African Development Bank. Undated. "Grant Proposal for Financing under the MENA TRANSITIONAL FUND: Operationalizing Public Private Partnership in Tunisia." [www.menatransitionfund.org/sites/mena_trans_fund/files/documents/TN%20AfDB-OECD%200perationalising%20PPP%20(AfDB%20 Project%20Document).docx].

Artelia group. 2014. "Conception, rédaction et passation des contrats de PPP dans le secteur de l'assainissement en Tunisie." Artelia group, 18 June. [http://www.onas.nat.tn/En/upload/telechar-gement/AtelierFormation18juin2014_F.pdf].

Ayed, Belgacem. 2013. "Developing standards and best practices in PPPs." UNECE International PPP Centre for Excellence, 22 October [http://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/ceci/documents/2013/ PPP/High-level_Consultations/10_Tunisia.pdf].

Ayed, Belgacem. 2013. "Le Partenariat Public Privé et le Financement des Infrastructures, L'Experience Tunisienne." Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia, 17–18 April 2013 [http://css.escwa.org.lb/edgd/2148/p6.pdf].

Cbonds. Undated. "Tunisian bonds, General information on bond market." Financial Information. [http://em.cbonds.com/countries/Tunisia-bond].

Chakroun Fatma and Fathi Abid. 2013. "A methodology to estimate the interest rates yield curve in Illiquid Market: the Tunisian case." The Macrotheme Review. [http://macrotheme.com/yahoo_site_admin/assets/docs/3ChaMR26.32040953.pdf].

Chemingui, Mohamed, Sánchez, Marco. 2011. "Assessing Development Strategies to Achieve the MDGs in The Republic of Tunisia." United Nations Department for Social and Economic Affairs, October. [http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/policy/capacity/output_studies/roa87_study_tun. pdf].

Credendo group. 2014. "Tunisia: Country risk assessment." Credendo group, June. [http://www. delcredereducroire.be/newsletter/en/cra/54537/cra-tunisia-june2014].

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2015. "Risk Briefing."

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (ERBD). 2013a. "Commercial laws of Tunisia: an assessment by the third." Office of the general counsel EBRD, March. [http://www.ebrd.com/down-loads/sector/legal/tunisia.pdf].

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (ERBD). 2013b. "Law in Transition, Developing local capital markets in the southern and eastern Mediterranean region." Office of the general counsel EBRD, Undated. [http://www.ebrd.com/documents/legal-reform/developing-local-capital-markets-in-the-southern-and-eastern-mediterranean-region.pdf].

European Investment Bank, 2011. "FEMIP – Study on PPP Legal & Financial Frameworks in the Mediterranean Partner Countries, Volume 2 – Country Analysis." [http://www.eib.org/attachments/med/ppp-study-volume-2.pdf].

Ghali, Sofiane and Rezgui, Sami. 2014. "Partenariats Publics Privés et relance de l'investissement en Tunisie: opportunités et contraintes." Institut Arabe des Chefs d'Entreprises, 12 March. [http://www.iace.tn/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/diapo-IACE.pptx].

International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2014. "Tunisia: First and second reviews under the stand-by arrangement, request for waivers of applicability and nonobservance of performance criteria." IMF Country report No. 14/50, February. [http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2014/cr1450.pdf].

KPMG. 2013. "Monitoring African sovereign risk: Tunisian snapshot." KPMG, 2013 quarter 3. [https://www.kpmg.com/Africa/en/KPMG-in-Africa/Documents/2012-2013%20Country%20Profiles/KPMG_Tunisia%202013Q3.pdf].

Middle East Journal. 2014. "Tunisia government running out of liquidity." [http://www.mid-dle-east-online.com/english/?id=65340,].

Taktak, Nouredine. 2012. "Le dialogue public - privé: l'expérience tunisienne. " Charte euro méditerranéenne de l'entreprise (Dimension 7), 16-17 Avril. [http://ec.europa.eu/enlargement/taiex/dyn/ create_speech.jsp?speechID=24467&key=bc33b4bf77374f1052929c68d77f6d59].

Transparency International. 2014. "Corruption Perception Index."

Trape, Philippe, Mickaelle Chauvin and Hatem Salah. 2014. "African Economic Outlook: Tunisia." African Development Bank. [http://www.africaneconomicoutlook.org/fileadmin/uploads/aeo/2014/ PDF/CN_Long_EN/Tunisie_EN.pdf].

Tunisian National Assembly. Draft Law n°69-2012, 19 October 2012 on the creation of a new PPP law. [http://majles.marsad.tn/uploads/documents/projet_loi_69_2012.pdf].

Tunisian National Assembly. Decree n° 2013-4630, 18 November 2013 on the creation of a special concessions unit in the government. [http://www.legislation.tn/sites/default/files/news/de-cret2013_4630_1.pdf].

Tunisian National Assembly. Decree n° 2013-4631, 18 November 2013 modifying decree 2010-1753 on the conditions of obtention of concessions. [http://www.legislation.tn/sites/default/files/ news/decret2013_4631_0.pdf].

Tunisian National Assembly. Law n° 2008-23, 1 Avril 2008 on the concession regime. [http://faolex. fao.org/docs/pdf/tun80935.pdf].

World Bank. 2015. World Bank Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Project Database.

World Bank Group. 2014. "The Unfinished Revolution Bringing Opportunity, Good Jobs And Greater Wealth To All Tunisians." May. [http://www.worldbank.org/en/country/tunisia/publication/unfinished-revolution].

UGANDA

Alexander's Gas & Oil Connections. 2011. "Ugandan government ends power subsidies." [http://www.gasandoil.com/oilaround/2011/01/ugandan-government-ends-power-subsidies].

AllAfrica. 2014. "PPP Law Gains Traction." [http://allafrica.com/stories/201403050214.html].

Bank of Uganda. 2014. "Financial stability report." [https://www.bou.or.ug/opencms/bou/bou-downloads/financial_stability/Rpts/All/BOU-Financial-Stability-Report-June-2014.pdf].

Bank of Uganda. "About financial markets." [https://www.bou.or.ug/bou/collateral/about_financial_markets.html].

Businge, Julius. 2014. "NWSC eyes own power plant." *The Independent*, Uganda. [http://www.inde-pendent.co.ug/business/business-news/9485-nwsc-eyes-own-power-plant-]

Capital Market Authority, Uganda. 2012. "Capital markets Financing for a Better Kampala City." [http://www.cmauganda.co.ug/news/capital-markets-financing-better-kampala-city].

East African Chamber of Commerce, Industry and Agriculture. 2014. "Draft Report on Review of Policy, Regulatory, Legal and Institutional Framework governing PPPs in the Northern Corridor Countries of East Africa." [http://www.enablebusiness4pppseastafrica.com/wp-content/up-loads/2014/10/Draft-Policy-Framework-Report.pdf].

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2015. "Risk Briefing."

Economist Intelligence Unit, The. 2015. "Country Report." [http://www.eiu.com/FileHandler.ashx-?issue_id=1652646749&mode=pdf].

Economist Intelligence Unit. 2014. "Country Risk Service." [http://www.eiu.com/FileHandler.ashx-?issue_id=412459025&mode=pdf].

Homestrings.com. 2014. "Uganda plans \$1 bln public-private partnership road tender in 2015." [https://www.homestrings.com/news-and-analysis/2014/october/17/uganda-plans-1-bln-public-private-partnership-road-tender-in-2015/#.VGY58DSsUUM].

International Finance Corporation (IFC). 2013. "Public-Private Partnership Impact Stories. Uganda: Small Scale Infrastructure Provider Water Program." [http://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/2a91 3980498391b785acd7336b93d75f/PPPImpactStories_Uganda_SmallScaleInfrastructureWaterProgram.pdf?MOD=AJPERES].

International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2014a. "Third review under the Policy Support Instrument - Staff report." [http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/cat/longres.aspx?sk=42516.0].

International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2014b. "Second review under the Policy Support Instrument." [http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2014/cr14195.pdf].

International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2014c. "Poverty reduction strategy paper." [http://www.imf. org/external/pubs/cat/longres.aspx?sk=42544.0].

International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2013. "Energy Subsidy Reform in Sub-Saharan Africa: Experiences and Lessons." [https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/dp/2013/afr1302.pdf].

International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2012. "Capital Market Integration: Progress Ahead of the East African Community Monetary Union." IMF Working Paper. [http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2012/wp1218.pdf].

International Water Power & Dam Construction. 2013. "Bujagali: powering Uganda from the Nile." [http://www.alstom.com/Global/Power/Resources/Documents/Brochures/bujagali-uganda-ka-plan-hydro-plant-advertorial.pdf].

Kajara, Aston. 2013. "Public Private Partnerships: Stimulating, modernising and growing Uganda's Economy." [http://www.cbcglobal.org/images/uploads/library/Presentation_on_PPPs_in_Uganda_by_Hon._Aston_Kajara.pptx].

Kayemba, Keto Nyapendi. 2012. "Audit of Public Private Partnerships- SAI Uganda experience." [http://portal2.tcu.gov.br/portal/page/portal/TCU/comunidades/regulacao/areas_atuacao/_ apresentacoes/07%20UGANDA%20Ms%20Kayemba.pdf].

Mbanga, Jeff. 2014. "Where Ugandans have a stake, we need to see those contracts." *The Observer*, Uganda. [http://www.observer.ug/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=35402:-where-ugandans-have-a-stake-we-need-to-see-those-contracts&catid=83:staff-writ-ers&Itemid=60].

Ministry of Finance, Planning and Economic Development. 2010. "Public-Private Partnership Framework Policy." [http://www.finance.go.ug/dmdocuments/Public-Private%20Partnership%20Framework%20Policy%20-%20September%202010.pdf].

Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency. 2013. "MIGA in Sub-Saharan Africa." [http://www.miga.org/documents/SubSaharanAfrica.pdf]

Otweyo, Orono. 2013. "Public Private Partnerships." [https://www.google.co.uk/webhp?sourceid=chrome-instant&rlz=1C10PRB_enGB529GB574&ion=1&espv=2&ie=UTF-8#q=Umeme+PPP].

Public Private Infrastructure Advisory Facility (PPIAF). 2012. "Draft PPP Policy Outline." [http://www.ppiaf.org/sites/ppiaf.org/files/documents/Note-Seven-Draft-PPP-Policy-Outline.pdf].

Ssebabi, David. 2012. "Uganda's PPP Experience." [http://www.theigc.org/wp-content/up-loads/2014/08/Session-8-David-Ssebabi.pdf].

Ssempebwa, Alan. 2013. "Rough ride for Pioneer Bus." *The Independent*, Uganda. [http://www.independent.co.ug/news/news-analysis/7516-rough-ride-for-pioneer-bus].

Transparency International. 2014. "Corruption Perception Index."

Uganda radio Network. 2013. "Minister Defends Proposed Public-Private Partnership Law." [http://ugandaradionetwork.com/a/story.php?s=58713].

Wall Street Journal. 2012. "Uganda Reverses Electricity Price Increases." [http://www.wsj.com/articles/SB10001424052970204555904577166910963957778].

World Bank. 2015a. "Doing Business 2015." [http://www.doingbusiness.org/~/media/GIAWB/ Doing%20Business/Documents/Annual-Reports/English/DB15-Full-Report.pdf].

World Bank. 2015b. World Bank Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Project Database.

World Bank Group. 2014. "Partnering to Support Uganda's Roads PPP Program." [http://www.world-bank.org/en/news/feature/2014/11/26/partnering-to-support-ugandas-roads-ppp-program].

World Bank Group. Investing across Borders. [http://iab.worldbank.org/Data/ExploreEconomies/ uganda/arbitrating-commercial-disputes].

ZAMBIA

Axis Consulting. 2013. "PPP Country Paper: Zambia". [http://www.sadc3p.ideasmith.co.za/wp-con-tent/uploads/2015/02/zambia_27012014.pdf].

Brock, Joe. 2015. "Zambian elections on Tuesday could determine pivotal issues in its major copper industry." *Mail & Guardian*. [http://mg.co.za/article/2015-01-19-zambian-elections-on-tuesday-could-determine-pivotal-issues-in-its-major-copper-industry].

Commission of Inquiry into the Operations of the Zambia Revenue Authority. 2011. Report.

Economist Intelligence Unit, The (EIU). 2015. "Risk Briefing."

FOREX Magnates. 2013. "Zambia join's Africa's growing currency traders – launches FX futures." [http://forexmagnates.com/zambia-joins-africas-growing-currency-traders-launches-fx-futures/].

Hill, Matthew. 2015. Zambia extends presidential election as heavy rain hampers vote." Bloomberg. [http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2015-01-19/zambians-vote-for-new-president-after-death-of-king-cobra-].

Kalemba, A. 2011. "Assessing value for money in public private partnerships infrastructure projects in Zambia: Case of Lusaka City Council". [http://thesis.eur.nl/pub/11557/].

Network PPP Working Group. 2003. Laws and regulations Public-Private Partnership Act (No.14 of 2009).

Ngoma, Sydney, Mundia, Muya and Kaliba, Chabota. 2014. "Benefits, Constraints and Risks in Infrastructure Development via Public-Private Partnerships in Zambia". Journal of Construction in Developing Countries. [http://web.usm.my/jcdc/vol19_1_2014/JCDC%2019(1)%202014-Art.%20 2%20(15-33).pdf].

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2011. "Highlights of the Policy Framework for Investment in Zambia."

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2011. "OECD Investment Policy Review of Zambia: Advancing investment policy reform". [http://www.oecd.org/investment/invest-mentfordevelopment/48720875.pdf].

PPP in Infrastructure Development in Zambia. 2014.

Report on the Committee on Communications, Transport, Works and Supply for the Third session of the Eleventh National Assembly appointed on 25th September 2013.

Reuters. 2015. "Zambian ruling party takes slim lead in presidential vote."

Reuters. 2014. "Botched Customs upgrade cuts off Congo's second city.

Transparency International. 2014. "Corruption Perception Index."

Turkish Weekly. 2013. "Zambia to use fuel subsidies to improve basic services, minister tells Anadolu agency." [www.turkiskweekly.net].

US Department of State. 2013–14. "Investment Climate Statements PPP Country Paper, Zambia."

US Department of State. 2013. "Investment Climate Statement – Business of Economic and Business Affairs - Openness to, and Restrictions upon, Foreign Investment."

US Department of State. 2013. "Mobile Investment Climate."

World Bank. 2015. World Bank Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Project Database.

World Economic Forum. 2014. "Global Competitiveness report."

Zambia. 2009. Public Private Partnership Act (No. 19 of 2009).

Zambia. 2000. Arbitration Act (No. 19 of 2000).

Zambia Development Agency. 2014. "Public-Private- Partnerships in Infrastructure Development in Zambia."

Zambia Weekly. 2013. "Let electricity supply benefit the poor." [www.zambia-weekly.com].

Interviews

More than 60 in-depth interviews were taken. Most of the experts chose to remain anonymous. We thank the contributions of the following interviewees:

Aijaz Ahmad, Belgacem Ayed, Federico Barriga, Joe Brock, Carla Faustino Coelho, Ekow Coleman, Ed Cropley, John D. Crothers, Marta Escolano Lahuerta, Nicholas George, Sofiane Ghali, Atter Ezzat Hannoura, Nanda Hirani, Imad Ahmed, Lobna Jeribi, Joseph Kapika, Paul Karekezi, Peter Kasanda, Atef Masmoudi, Brian Mtonya, Sharmini Naidoo, Romain Neyrand, Alfred Nuwagaba, David Ofusu-Dorte, Kwame Owino, Gavin Really, Justin Runjii, Mohamad Talaat, Samir Mohammed Tazi and Nicholas Zervos.

While every effort has been taken to verify the accuracy of this information, The Economist Intelligence Unit Ltd. cannot accept any responsibility or liability for reliance by any person on this report or any of the information, opinions or conclusions set out in this report. LONDON 20 Cabot Square London E14 4QW United Kingdom Tel: (44.20) 7576 8000 Fax: (44.20) 7576 8500 E-mail: london@eiu.com

NEW YORK 750 Third Avenue 5th Floor New York, NY 10017 United States Tel: (1.212) 554 0600 Fax: (1.212) 586 1181/2 E-mail: newyork@eiu.com

HONG KONG 1301 Cityplaza Four 12 Taikoo Wan Road, Taikoo Shing Hong Kong Tel: (852) 2585 3888 Fax: (852) 2802 7638 E-mail: hongkong@eiu.com

GENEVA Rue de l'Athénée 32 1206 Geneva Switzerland Tel: (41) 22 566 2470 Fax: (41) 22 346 93 47 E-mail: geneva@eiu.com